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         1       MR CONDON:   Mr Watson is before the Commission.

         2

         3       <MICHAEL FREDERICK WATSON, on former oath:        [10.15am]

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   You're on your former oath, Mr Watson.

         6

         7       <EXAMINATION BY MR ABBOTT:

         8

         9       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   Mr Watson, I want to ask you some

        10       questions about the second meeting you gave evidence about

        11       on the last occasion, which you identified as being around

        12       October.  I want to try to see if we can get a date in

        13       October, or an approximate date in October, for that second

        14       meeting which you gave evidence about.  Presumably that

        15       meeting was before you signed the Pac Rim charter documents

        16       on 25 October?

        17       A.   I can't recall the letter that you're referring to,

        18       the Pac Rim document, and the date it was signed.  Can you

        19       please remind me of that one?

        20

        21       Q.   You know the Pac Rim charter documents that were

        22       produced to you on the last occasion.  Presumably you had

        23       to get some direction from someone, and you've told us it

        24       was from Mr Officer, to sign those Pac Rim charter

        25       documents.  What I'm putting to you is that the meeting

        26       that you gave evidence about, where you said Mr Ingleby

        27       came in and out of the meeting, would have had to have been

        28       before 25 October 1999; do you agree?

        29

        30       MR CONDON:   With great respect, I think the Pac Rim

        31       documents should be shown to this witness.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Is that the date of the Pac Rim

        34       documents?

        35

        36       MR ABBOTT:   Yes.  I'm happy for the Pac Rim documents to

        37       be shown.  Could we have AWB.0203.0019.

        38

        39       MR CONDON:   That's confidential exhibit 146C,

        40       Mr Commissioner.

        41

        42       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   You'll see it's dated 25 October 1999?

        43       A.   Yes, I agree with that date.

        44

        45       Q.   Well, again, I ask you does that enable you to place

        46       the meeting that you gave evidence about as being the

        47       second meeting involving Mr Ingleby prior to that date in
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         1       October?

         2       A.   No, I'm sorry, it doesn't.

         3

         4       Q.   It doesn't enable you to do that?

         5       A.   No, I'm sorry.

         6

         7       Q.   The meeting, whenever it was in October, would have to

         8       have been after 20 October, would it not?  Look at the

         9       Emons email of 20 October, MAE.0002.0060.  So the meeting

        10       of which you speak would have to have been after that date?

        11       A.   I'm trying to help you, but, with respect, I can't

        12       remember the exact date it took place, whether you show me

        13       this email or the charter party.  I can't say with any

        14       certainty as to what particular day it was.

        15

        16       Q.   No, I'm not suggesting you can say what particular day

        17       it was.  I'm asking whether you can put it within the

        18       period of, say, between 20 October and 25 October?

        19       A.   I'm sorry, I cannot.

        20

        21       Q.   Okay.  Would you look at Mr Officer's email of

        22       4 November, AWB.5056.0395.

        23

        24       MR CONDON:   It's exhibit 245, Mr Commissioner.

        25

        26       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   You'll see Mr Officer is writing to

        27       Mr Emons, and I know this isn't your document, but he's

        28       saying:

        29

        30            Mark,

        31            Where are we with the trucking fee issue?

        32            Even if we find a way through this issue do

        33            we take on any increased risk/exposure...

        34

        35       Et cetera.  Does that indicate to you that the meeting that

        36       you spoke of as being in October may have been post

        37       4 November?

        38       A.   I really am sorry, but I cannot tell you what date it

        39       was.  I'm sorry.

        40

        41       Q.   So it might have been November?

        42       A.   It may well have been.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   What's the point of all of this,

        45       Mr Abbott?

        46

        47       MR ABBOTT:   Just that there is an issue as to whether or
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         1       not Mr Ingleby was even at such a meeting.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   That I understand.

         4

         5       MR ABBOTT:   And I'm endeavouring to see, first of all,

         6       whether this witness is able to place the meeting at a time

         7       when I can definitely show that Mr Ingleby was not around,

         8       or before I take him to his transcript, which I'll do and

         9       put it fairly and squarely to him, Commissioner.

        10

        11       Q.   Since you can't say with any certainty when the

        12       meeting occurred, other than to say it was around October,

        13       and it may have been November, do you accept the

        14       possibility that Mr Ingleby wasn't even at the second

        15       meeting?

        16       A.   No, I can't accept that.

        17

        18       Q.   You can't accept it?  Would you look at your evidence

        19       at page 3408, line 18.  You were asked this question by

        20       Mr Condon:

        21

        22            Q.   Well, do you recall an occasion where

        23            Mr Ingleby attended and discussion took

        24            place about this payment mechanism?

        25

        26       You answered:

        27

        28            A.   Only in the earlier part, not in

        29            October - in the earlier part of the year,

        30            or before October, he was part of those

        31            meetings, yes.

        32

        33       Do you accept that when you gave this evidence in February

        34       your recollection was that Mr Ingleby was not at the

        35       October meeting?

        36       A.   With respect to the question I was asked, it was

        37       talking about the payment mechanism, we were talking about

        38       the establishment of the payment mechanism, which did take

        39       part earlier than before October.

        40

        41       Q.   Mr Watson, you were asked fairly and squarely whether

        42       you remembered an occasion when Mr Ingleby attended and a

        43       discussion took place about payment mechanism, not about

        44       establishment of it.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, is that really fair?  If you go

        47       up to the top of page 3004, what he's being asked about is



            .4/4/06 (59)               5892     M F WATSON (Mr Abbott)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       the mechanism.

         2

         3       MR ABBOTT:   Yes.  He's asked generally about it,

         4       Commissioner.

         5

         6       Q.   Are you saying, then, in answer to the what the

         7       Commissioner has said, in this passage of evidence that

         8       whatever took place at the meeting in October, it wasn't a

         9       discussion about the establishment of the mechanism of

        10       payment?

        11       A.   The mechanism of payment, as I mentioned before, was

        12       actually established earlier, back in - after - I can't

        13       remember the date - basically after Hogan's email, and I

        14       can't remember the date of that email, I'm sorry.

        15

        16       Q.   Well, I put it to you that your evidence at page 3408,

        17       and, indeed, your recollection is, and was then, that

        18       Mr Ingleby wasn't at any second meeting in October?

        19       A.   As we just discussed now, I can't be certain whether

        20       it was October or November, but certainly that meeting took

        21       place around that time - sorry, I should add, he was in

        22       that meeting around about that time.

        23

        24       Q.   When I asked you some questions on the last occasion

        25       about Cornflower Holdings, you told us that the mention of

        26       Cornflower Holdings could only have come from two places.

        27       You said either it came from the owners or else it came

        28       from the Iraqis.  Do you remember giving that evidence?

        29       A.   I do.

        30

        31       Q.   When you said "the Iraqis", did you mean the IGB's

        32       officers or executives?

        33       A.   It could well have been also Alia who mentioned it,

        34       that could be the source - Alia on behalf of the Iraqis or

        35       the Iraqi individuals.

        36

        37       Q.   Well, it could have been if Alia had been involved at

        38       that stage, couldn't it?

        39       A.   It could certainly have been, yes.

        40

        41       Q.   And when you said "the Iraqis", were you intending

        42       that we should understand the reference to Cornflower

        43       Holdings as being the designated account for the designated

        44       maritime agent nominated by the IGB?

        45       A.   If I recall my answer to you before, I mentioned that

        46       this company was either - I got the name of this company

        47       from one of two places, one would have been the Iraqis and
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         1       one would be the ship owners.

         2

         3       Q.   I understand that.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   What's the transcript reference?

         6

         7       MR ABBOTT:   5407, Commissioner.

         8

         9       Q.   What I'm putting to you is this:  when you invited us

        10       to consider your answer, were you in essence telling us,

        11       when you referred to the Iraqis as being a possible source

        12       of the Cornflower Holdings account - were you inviting us

        13       to infer that that was the account which someone on the

        14       Iraqi side had nominated as the account into which the

        15       trucking fee was to be paid?

        16       A.   It could be one of them, correct, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   The only problem I have with that answer is that there

        19       appears to be not one shred of correspondence from the

        20       Iraqis - anyone on the Iraqi side - designating or telling

        21       you that Cornflower Holdings was the account into which the

        22       trucking fees were to be paid.  Do you accept that?

        23       A.   I certainly don't have any documentation, no, so I do

        24       not know if any exists.

        25

        26       Q.   Did you ever see any documentation from anyone saying,

        27       "Please pay the money to Cornflower Holdings" - that is,

        28       the trucking fees, let alone the $1.50, put that to one

        29       side, just dealing with the trucking fees?

        30       A.   I would have received documentation, yes.  Otherwise I

        31       wouldn't have known what to do.

        32

        33       Q.   Exactly.  And you did receive documentation, didn't

        34       you, about where to pay the trucking fees and you were

        35       meticulous in recording to those who had to pay it where

        36       they would have to pay it, weren't you?

        37

        38       MR CONDON:   I think there might be two questions rolled up

        39       in that proposition, Mr Commissioner.

        40

        41       MR ABBOTT:   Yes, I'm endeavouring to be as quick as I can,

        42       so I accept there are two questions in that.

        43

        44       Q.   You were meticulous in documenting to those who needed

        45       the information where they were to pay the trucking fees,

        46       weren't you?

        47       A.   Thank you for your use of the word "meticulous".  My
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         1       efforts at that time were to make sure the trucking fees

         2       went to the right people.  Otherwise the ships would not

         3       have been discharged.

         4

         5       Q.   Right.  Let's look, for example, at AWB.0203.0004,

         6       your 3 February 2000 letter to Pac Rim.

         7

         8       MR CONDON:   It's exhibit 430, Mr Commissioner.

         9

        10       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   Could we take it up a bit.  That was your

        11       confirmatory letter, confirming how the trucking fee was to

        12       be paid, wasn't it?

        13       A.   This particular letter was a recap of a charter party,

        14       which must have been in existence as well.

        15

        16       Q.   We've seen no such letter at or about the time of the

        17       charter party in which you told, as you would have to have

        18       told, Pac Rim where to pay the trucking fees; correct?

        19       A.   With respect, I can't answer that question, because I

        20       don't know what documentation you have.

        21

        22       Q.   No, you don't.  But are you telling us that there

        23       would be in existence a letter - because of your practice

        24       you adopted there would have to be in existence a letter

        25       from you to Pac Rim telling them where the trucking fee was

        26       to be paid?

        27       A.   That would have been incorporated into a charter

        28       party.

        29

        30       Q.   And not a separate letter, such as you wrote to Ronly,

        31       exhibit 34C - AWB.0087.0092.  Could we look at that letter.

        32       That's the sort of letter that you would have written to

        33       Pac Rim, isn't it?

        34       A.   Not necessarily.  It might have been incorporated into

        35       an addendum of the charter party.  There are different

        36       methods - different ways.  It was done either by this way

        37       or by addendums, but in all the cases there would have been

        38       addendums in the charter party chartering the payment to

        39       whoever it was going to.

        40

        41       Q.   Well, you can go this far with me, then:  you have no

        42       recollection of writing any specific letter to Pac Rim

        43       telling them anything about Cornflower Holdings; is that

        44       right?

        45       A.   At the risk of repeating myself, I'm sorry if I don't

        46       give you the answer you require.  I believe it should be in

        47       the charter party in addendum form.
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         1

         2       Q.   But, you see, the problem with the addendum to the

         3       charter party is that you can't tell us now whether what's

         4       in that addendum in fact encapsulates an instruction you

         5       gave to Pac Rim to pay Cornflower Holdings the trucking fee

         6       or whether that's some account which, as you suggest, the

         7       shippers might have put in for their own purposes.

         8       A.   As I mentioned before, the accounts would only come

         9       from one of two sources.  One would have been the ship

        10       owner and one would have been the Iraqis.  I can't at this

        11       stage recall who it came from, in terms of either or.

        12

        13       Q.   Well, you see, it's implicit in what you say that Alia

        14       may have nominated Cornflower, is it not?

        15       A.   Alia on behalf of the Iraqis, yes, it's possible.

        16

        17       Q.   Is there any correspondence that you can produce that

        18       substantiates that claim?

        19       A.   I have produced all documentation that I may have so,

        20       I'm sorry, I have no more to produce.

        21

        22       Q.   We do have some documents from Alia, none of which

        23       suggests that they were in any way involved with Cornflower

        24       Holdings.  For example, we have their letter of 27 October

        25       1999 - AWB.0071.0220, which I think is a fax from Alia to

        26       Mr Emons involving details of the bank account.  I think I

        27       have the wrong exhibit number.  I'm looking at a document

        28       with a barcode 0071.0220, it looks like.  It may be part of

        29       exhibit 104C.  It's the fax from Alia to Mr Emons providing

        30       details of their bank account.  Could I hand this letter

        31       then to the witness.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   What's the reference?

        34

        35       MR CONDON:   It's AWB.0071.022 - it could be 9 - a letter

        36       from Alia to the AWB, attention Mr Emons, dated 27 October

        37       1999.

        38

        39       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   I put it to you that that is the first

        40       letter from Alia to AWB informing AWB of the account that

        41       Alia want the trucking fee deposited into - does that

        42       accord with your recollection?

        43       A.   No, it does not.

        44

        45       Q.   What, you would suggest there's some earlier letter

        46       from Alia referable to Cornflower Holdings?

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could we just wait until we get this

         2       document, please?  The reference is AWB.0071.0223.

         3

         4       MR CONDON:   I think it's exhibit 113, Mr Commissioner.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, it is.

         7

         8       MR ABBOTT:   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   This letter relates to the first introduction of Alia

        11       to AWB, does it not?

        12       A.   I agree with your - it is a letter saying that, yes.

        13

        14       Q.   They are nominating a specific account, aren't they?

        15       A.   They are giving a bank account, yes.

        16

        17       Q.   That's nothing to do with Cornflower Holdings, is it?

        18       A.   This particular bank account on this particular

        19       letter, no.

        20

        21       Q.   Would you look at MAE.0001.0063, an Alia letter of

        22       7 December 1999.

        23

        24       MR CONDON:   That's exhibit 120, Mr Commissioner.

        25

        26       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   That's Alia again, nominating a bank

        27       account.

        28       A.   I agree with you, yes.

        29

        30       Q.   There's no reference to Cornflower Holdings?

        31       A.   Not in this letter, no.

        32

        33       Q.   Would you look at 0087.0042, an Alia letter of

        34       10 February 2000.

        35

        36       MR CONDON:   Exhibit 431, Mr Commissioner.

        37

        38       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   You'll see again Alia is nominating an

        39       account.  This is nothing to do with Cornflower Holdings?

        40       A.   No, and it has nothing to do with the one on the

        41       earlier one.

        42

        43       Q.   Right.  On this topic, then, can I just ask you, when

        44       you saw the letter of 15 March 2000, which is

        45       AWB.0203.0001, from Pac Rim to Mr Ingleby, which says in

        46       the third paragraph, "Can you please confirm by return

        47       thankyou that the fees of US$ 13.50 pmt were required by
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         1       contractual obligations to be remitted to Messrs Cornflower

         2       Holdings Ltd, a British Virgin Island company at their bank

         3       account", and then the account is listed, and you, as

         4       you've told us, composed the reply, at least --

         5       A.   Sorry, to correct you, I did not compose the reply.

         6

         7       Q.   We'll come to that.  At least as at March 2000 you

         8       were happy, or at least prepared to confirm, that the

         9       contractual obligations imposed on Pac Rim by the charter

        10       party of 25 October did require them to pay the trucking

        11       fee at least to Cornflower Holdings?

        12       A.   Sorry, did you actually say I confirmed or was happy

        13       to confirm - I've forgotten your exact wording, I'm sorry.

        14

        15       Q.   Mr Watson, can I put it this way:  if Pac Rim on

        16       behalf of the owners had decided that Cornflower Holdings

        17       was a good account to go into, do you think it likely that

        18       Pac Rim would be writing to the chief financial officer

        19       asking the chief financial officer to confirm that the

        20       account into which the trucking fees were to go was one

        21       which the owners had designated, as distinct from AWB or

        22       Alia designating?

        23       A.   When you first asked me about this particular letter,

        24       if I recall, my answer was something to the effect that it

        25       could have come from one of two people, and I speculated it

        26       could have been either the owners or the Iraqis.  So if it

        27       indeed did come from the owners, I do not know what they

        28       were trying to do or achieve.

        29

        30       Q.   I'm suggesting a third explanation - it came from you.

        31       A.   Then I'd have to deny that.

        32

        33       Q.   All right.  You and/or Mr Emons - you deny that?

        34       A.   Of course.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there any basis for that suggestion,

        37       Mr Abbott?

        38

        39       MR ABBOTT:   Yes, Commissioner.

        40

        41       Q.   So, in summary, there's nothing you can produce that

        42       tells Pac Rim to pay the money to Cornflower, other than

        43       the charter party addendum, is there?

        44       A.   Any documentation I've already given, and any other

        45       documentation would be in the files in AWB's office.

        46

        47       Q.   The only piece of paper that the Commission has is



            .4/4/06 (59)               5898     M F WATSON (Mr Abbott)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Pac Rim writing to AWB seeking confirmation that they were

         2       doing the right thing in paying the trucking fees to

         3       Cornflower Holdings?

         4       A.   Sorry, I can't - you're asking me to try to reply to

         5       that question and I'm sorry, I can't.

         6

         7       Q.   Well, we've got your evidence on the input you had

         8       into the response.  Can I just ask you this, then:  you

         9       told us last time that you knew that the payment of

        10       trucking fees had not been approved by the United Nations,

        11       and at the time you told us that, during the course of your

        12       evidence on the last occasion, you're aware, are you not,

        13       that you'd said the opposite on previous occasions in

        14       giving evidence?

        15

        16       MR CONDON:   I think, with great respect to Mr Watson,

        17       those should be pointed out to him, Mr Commissioner.

        18

        19       MR ABBOTT:   Certainly.

        20

        21       Q.   Could you look at your second statutory declaration,

        22       which is exhibit 426 - WST.0001.0176, paragraph 13.  That

        23       was your belief as of 12 January 2006?

        24       A.   Which I have amended since that time.

        25

        26       Q.   So what you've said in your statutory declaration was

        27       wrong?

        28       A.   It is not as full an answer as it could have been.

        29

        30       Q.   Not as full as it could have been.  Well, it was plain

        31       wrong, wasn't it?  You went on, of course, to give some

        32       evidence in the confidential session at page 400 and

        33       following.  You said at page 400, line 23 - this is on

        34       6 January 2006 - I won't read it out to you, but if you --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which line - page 400, did you say?

        37

        38       MR ABBOTT:   Page 400, line 23 and following.

        39

        40       Q.   I suggest in that passage, which isn't up on the

        41       screen, you were telling us, or telling the Commissioner

        42       and those present at the confidential session, that you had

        43       no knowledge of any link between Alia and the Iraqi

        44       government and that, as far as you were concerned, it was a

        45       legitimate trucking company based in Jordan; do you

        46       remember giving that evidence?

        47
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         1       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, I think Mr Watson should see the

         2       transcript.  I'll provide a copy.

         3

         4       MR ABBOTT:   If it can't be brought up on the screen, could

         5       he be shown a copy.

         6

         7       MR CONDON:   Will I show him page 399 as well?

         8

         9       MR ABBOTT:   Just page 400.

        10

        11       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   Line 23 is your answer:

        12

        13            A.   Certainly I did not know, I was not

        14            part of any discussions that did make it

        15            known of any other - that Alia, in this

        16            case the trucking company, was anything

        17            else but a Jordanian company.

        18            Q.   A Jordanian company with links to

        19            Iraq?

        20            A.   With connections in Iraq, I think

        21            would be a more accurate way of describing

        22            it in terms of Alia portrayed themselves as

        23            just a company, a transportation company,

        24            an agency company, and there was - in that

        25            era there were many companies going around

        26            saying they could all do business in that

        27            part of the world.

        28

        29       It was then put to you:

        30

        31            Q.   This obligation to pay fees was in

        32            reality an obligation to pay fees to the

        33            IGB, wasn't it, or its nominees, some Iraqi

        34            entity?

        35            A.   I don't know.  That - no, I would not

        36            know the answer to that one.  All I'm aware

        37            of is Alia was seen to be this Jordanian

        38            company.  I had no - I personally did not

        39            have any knowledge of any link between -

        40            directly between Alia and anyone in Iraq.

        41

        42       That was all quite clear, wasn't it?

        43       A.   There's several parts to that particular answer,

        44       and --

        45

        46       Q.   Was that the truth?

        47       A.   I did not know of any legal entanglement between the
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         1       Iraqis and Alia.

         2

         3       Q.   So that was true.  What about the thrust of it, that

         4       Alia was in fact nothing more than a properly set up

         5       Jordanian company with no links to the Iraqi

         6       government - was that the truth, so far as your knowledge

         7       was concerned as at 6 January 2006?

         8       A.   Again, Alia was a set up Jordanian company.

         9

        10       Q.   Well, I don't want to take any more time than is

        11       necessary, Mr Watson, but do you say that that passage of

        12       evidence which I've read out to you is still your evidence

        13       today?

        14       A.   With respect, I've already corrected that particular

        15       area since that statement or - that statement was made.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, why did you say it in January?

        18       A.   At that time I was doing my very best to recollect

        19       what was happening some six years earlier, and my answers

        20       at that time were not as full as they could have been, I

        21       agree with that.

        22

        23       Q.   Can I just go to another topic.  You made a claim,

        24       when giving evidence on the last occasion, that the letter

        25       of 16 March - that is, the letter that was signed by

        26       Mr Ingleby in response to the Pac Rim request for comfort

        27       about their payments to Cornflower Holdings - you gave

        28       evidence on the last occasion that the letter was prepared

        29       and signed in the presence of all four of you, the four of

        30       you being Messrs Officer, Watson, Emons and Ingleby; do you

        31       remember that evidence?

        32       A.   I do.

        33

        34       Q.   And that's your recollection as of today?

        35       A.   It has not changed.

        36

        37       Q.   Right.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   What's the transcript reference?

        40

        41       MR ABBOTT:   5419 to 5420, Commissioner.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        44

        45       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   I want to take you to your statutory

        46       declaration that I've previously taken you to, your second

        47       statutory declaration, exhibit 426.  I think it's referred
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         1       to as a supplementary statutory declaration of 12 January

         2       2006.  It's exhibit 426 - WST.0001.0176.  Bear in mind that

         3       this is dated 12 January and it was, in essence, to correct

         4       or amplify some of the matters that were in your previous

         5       statutory declaration of 6 January 2006, wasn't it?

         6       A.   It was adding to my earlier one, yes.

         7

         8       Q.   And, if necessary, correcting?

         9       A.   If by addition it was correcting, then the answer is

        10       yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And of course you took, I suggest, considerable care

        13       to make sure that the supplementary statutory declaration

        14       was a correct version of what you knew and understood,

        15       didn't you?

        16

        17       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, I don't want to interrupt

        18       unnecessarily, but I think Mr Abbott should take Mr Watson

        19       to paragraph 7.

        20

        21       MR ABBOTT:   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Mr Condon wants me to particularly direct your

        24       attention to paragraph 7.  I won't read it out, but let me

        25       know when you've read it.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   And paragraph 4.

        28

        29       MR ABBOTT:   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   At this stage you've given evidence, haven't you, in

        32       confidential session?

        33       A.   I had, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Well, the passage I want to take you to is

        36       paragraph 23, which deals in part with the letter from

        37       Pac Rim of 15 March and the response of 16 March.  Do you

        38       agree with that assessment, that paragraph 23 deals with

        39       that issue?  Mr Watson?

        40       A.   I'm just reading.  Sorry.

        41

        42       Q.   Let me know when you've read it.

        43       A.   I have read it.  I have finished reading it.

        44

        45       Q.   Insofar as this paragraph is referable to the letter

        46       written by Mr Ingleby of 16 March 2000, or written for

        47       Mr Ingleby, I should say, it makes it clear, does it not,
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         1       that no such letter was written or composed in the presence

         2       of Mr Ingleby?

         3       A.   I'm sorry I can't give you the answer you want, but it

         4       was.

         5

         6       Q.   Well, you say that, but your statutory declaration

         7       says that your recollection as at January this year was

         8       that Nigel Officer said to you that he was satisfied that

         9       there were no problems with the United Nations and that, in

        10       respect of the letter from Pac Rim, he would get

        11       Paul Ingleby to write to Michael Kudelka to that effect.

        12       Whilst you did not recall the existence of such a

        13       letter - that is, a letter in response - when you made your

        14       initial statutory declaration you were reminded of it and

        15       of the fact that you had been shown a copy when it was

        16       written in mid-March 2000.  You were reminded of that when

        17       you were shown confidential exhibit 33C, being a letter

        18       dated 16 March 2000 from Paul Ingleby to Michael Kudelka

        19       confirming that the transportation fee arrangements were in

        20       order from a contractual and United Nations point of view.

        21       That, I suggest, goes completely against your evidence

        22       which you've now given that this letter of 16 March was, on

        23       your assessment, as it were, composed by a group of four -

        24       do you agree with that?

        25       A.   No, I do not agree with that.

        26

        27       Q.   Well, your evidence at confidential transcript

        28       page 417, I suggest, also denies the correctness of what

        29       you're now asserting.  Would you look at page 417 of your

        30       transcript of evidence of 6 January 2006.

        31

        32       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, I think, with great respect to

        33       Mr Abbott, the appropriate starting point is at the bottom

        34       of page 416.

        35

        36       MR ABBOTT:   I'm happy to start anywhere, but I really

        37       wanted to go to the exact point, which is halfway down

        38       page 417.  Is it possible to bring this up on the screen,

        39       or not?  Apparently it's not.  It's confidential.  Could

        40       the witness be shown a hard copy?

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think you do need to read page 416.

        43

        44       MR ABBOTT:   I'm mindful of page 416, Commissioner, I've

        45       read it several times.

        46

        47       MR CONDON:   I'll supply pages 416 and 417 to Mr Watson.
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         1

         2       MR ABBOTT:   And 418.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   And 415.

         5

         6       MR CONDON:   I'll supply pages 415 and 418.

         7

         8       MR ABBOTT:   Is it your wish, Commissioner, that the

         9       witness should read these pages before I ask a question

        10       about them?

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think so, yes.

        13

        14       MR ABBOTT:   I'll let him do that.

        15

        16       Q.   Will you tell us when you've read those pages?

        17       A.   I have read those.

        18

        19       Q.   Could we go now to page 417, where you said at line 21

        20       that you recalled Mr Ingleby giving Pac Rim a letter

        21       "stating that all the payments", and then you went on to

        22       say that you asked them if they had a copy.  My learned

        23       friend Mr Condon put to you a letter of 16 March, which I

        24       tell you is AWB.0087.0091, which is the letter which we've

        25       already looked at.  Could that be brought up on the screen?

        26       Perhaps it will assist the witness in his recollection.

        27       It's exhibit 432.  You were then asked, at line 28:

        28

        29            Q.   Would you have a look at this, it is

        30            unbarcoded but paginated 184 at the bottom.

        31            It is a letter of 16 March 2000.

        32

        33       This is the letter we've been talking about, on both the

        34       last occasion and this occasion.  You're familiar with it?

        35       A.   I am.

        36

        37       Q.   Mr Agius asked - sorry, it wasn't Mr Condon, it was

        38       Mr Agius:

        39

        40            Q.   Did you see the fax that's referred to

        41            in that letter?

        42

        43       You'll see that this letter starts off, "I refer to your

        44       fax of the 15th March" - do you see that?

        45       A.   I do see that.

        46

        47       Q.   You said:
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         1

         2            A.   I don't know, I can't recall it.  It

         3            seems to be addressed to Ingleby.

         4            Q.   Whether it's addressed to Ingleby or

         5            not, did you see Mr Ingleby's response at

         6            the time?

         7

         8       You said, "No" - you said that?

         9       A.   I did say that.

        10

        11       Q.   So may we take it that you didn't see Mr Ingleby's

        12       response at the time?

        13       A.   On 15 --

        14

        15       Q.   On 16 March?

        16       A.   Well, with respect, it's talking about the fax.

        17

        18       Q.   You think it's talking about the fax.  I'll read it

        19       all out to you.  It's put to you by Mr Agius:

        20

        21            Q.   Whether it's addressed to Ingleby or

        22            not, did you see Mr Ingleby's response at

        23            the time?

        24

        25       That's, I'd suggest, a reference to the 16 March letter

        26       that's on the screen.  You said, "No".  Then you were

        27       asked:

        28

        29            Q.   Well, did you see this letter at the

        30            time?

        31

        32       You said:

        33

        34            A.   I saw it at the time, yes.

        35

        36       Then you were asked:

        37

        38            Q.   And did you know that this letter was

        39            passed on to Pac Rim?

        40

        41       You said:

        42

        43            A.   Yes, because Pac Rim - that's why I

        44            remembered this, Pac Rim said they received

        45            this letter - sorry, a letter.  I didn't

        46            know the contents of it.

        47            Q.   This letter is dated 16 March 2000.
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         1

         2       Now, aren't you there saying not that you were involved in

         3       the compilation of this letter of 16 March but that the

         4       first time you heard about it was when Pac Rim, your friend

         5       Mr Kudelka, came to you and told you he'd received a

         6       response to his letter of 15 March - isn't that the effect

         7       of your evidence?

         8       A.   Sorry, 15 March or 16 March?

         9

        10       Q.   My question relates to your knowledge of the letter of

        11       16 March 2000.  What I'm putting to you, Mr Watson, is

        12       that your evidence at pages 417 and 418, I suggest, is

        13       clearly to the effect that the first you knew of the

        14       response - sorry, you were claiming then, on 6 January -

        15       was when Pac Rim came to you and told you they'd got a

        16       response.

        17       A.   Then my memory at that time is inaccurate.

        18

        19       Q.   You have a different memory now?

        20       A.   I do.

        21

        22       Q.   Can you then suggest any reason why you wrote the

        23       letter of 3 February, the letter of comfort, to

        24       Pac Rim - the 3 February letter being our exhibit 430,

        25       AWB.0203.0004.  It will come up in a minute.  Do you

        26       understand my question?

        27       A.   I think, in my opinion - well, I know - they're

        28       unrelated.  That is a recap of a charter party.

        29

        30       Q.   But why would you be writing just because you'd had a

        31       discussion with Mr Kudelka; why do you write on 3 February

        32       setting out all these matters?

        33       A.   I would suggest to you that I did recaps to many

        34       owners along similar sort of lines and they were being

        35       incorporated - those terms that we'd negotiated were being

        36       incorporated into the charter parties and the addendums.

        37

        38       Q.   That's my point.  It was already in the charter party

        39       documents.  Why write a letter months after the charter

        40       party, after the grain has been delivered - why write a

        41       letter like this as comfort to Mr Kudelka?

        42       A.   I can't recall if this letter relates to the earlier

        43       charter party or later charter party.

        44

        45       Q.   Thank you.  We'll move on to something else.  I want

        46       to ask you a couple of questions about Mr Beaumont.  At

        47       transcript page 3443 - the question that I will take you to
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         1       is at line 33, and your answer is at line 43 - Mr Beaumont

         2       has given evidence that he didn't attend this meeting.  Do

         3       you accept the possibility that he didn't?

         4       A.   Just so I know myself, the meeting with Mr Ingleby?

         5

         6       Q.   No, this is a meeting with Mr Geary and you in June

         7       2000, within days after Mr Beaumont had started, replacing

         8       Mr Officer on a temporary basis.

         9       A.   Can I just ask you, please, to scroll down a bit?

        10

        11       Q.   All I'm asking you is that your answer was you believe

        12       this meeting - you were shown a note saying "Robin Beaumont

        13       will be joining us".  Mr Beaumont says he didn't join you.

        14       Do you have any recollection that he did or didn't?

        15       A.   I cannot say with certainty he attended that meeting.

        16

        17       Q.   Thank you.  At transcript pages 3450 to 3451, if you

        18       look at page 3451, this is another meeting about which you

        19       were asked - you said it was a couple of days later, and at

        20       page 3451, at line 12, you were asked who else was present,

        21       and you said:

        22

        23            A.   I can't recall precisely, but I think

        24            Robin Beaumont may have also been there.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   What meeting is this?

        27

        28       MR ABBOTT:   This is a meeting a couple of days after the

        29       previous meeting, in June 2000.

        30

        31       Q.   Mr Beaumont has given evidence that he was not there

        32       when anything about inland trucking was discussed.  Do you

        33       accept that he was not there for that part of the

        34       discussion?

        35       A.   Well, I think I say in my statement that I think he

        36       may have been there, so I accept your comment.

        37

        38       Q.   Thank you.  As we know from - well, you may not know,

        39       because you weren't here when Mr Beaumont was giving

        40       evidence, but Mr Beaumont says that his concern from the

        41       time that he took over in early June 2000 was the huge

        42       amount of demurrage fees that were being incurred.  Is that

        43       a fair assessment of his concerns, he was always on about

        44       demurrage?

        45       A.   With respect to Mr Beaumont, we were all on about

        46       demurrage.

        47
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         1       Q.   Yes, okay.  We'll go to the transcript at page 3463 to

         2       3464.  You'll see from the transcript at line 12 that you

         3       recalled an occasion when the chartering team went off with

         4       Mr Beaumont to some location outside of the office, you'd

         5       forgotten where it was, it was to have a weekend

         6       conference, and you assert that Mr Beaumont was fully

         7       briefed as to the chartering issues - do you see that at

         8       lines 16 to 17?

         9       A.   I do see that.

        10

        11       Q.   Mr Beaumont has given evidence that nothing was

        12       discussed about the method of payments and the legality of

        13       the trucking payments at that meeting.  Do you accept that

        14       that may be the position, at least so far as his presence

        15       was concerned?

        16       A.   With respect to Mr Beaumont, and I have a lot of

        17       respect for the man, I do not agree with that evidence.

        18

        19       Q.   There was an independent facilitator at that off-site

        20       meeting, wasn't there?  It was a weekend conference, there

        21       was a facilitator?

        22       A.   I'm not sure there was a facilitator.

        23

        24       Q.   Right.  The conference was at Woodend - do you

        25       remember that - the Benting Country House?

        26       A.   I cannot recall the name.

        27

        28       Q.   It was in fact on 2 and 3 August 2000, wasn't it?

        29       A.   Sorry, are you asking me or telling me, because I

        30       don't have any details.

        31

        32       Q.   I'm suggesting to you that that's the date of it.

        33       Mr Beaumont has tendered the schedule and his diary notes

        34       about this session, and those are the documents I'm

        35       referring to, that show that this off-site meeting - the

        36       weekend conference - where you say he was fully briefed

        37       about issues took place on 2 and 3 August.

        38       A.   Well, I would then have to rely upon his diary notes

        39       as to that date.  I certainly don't have any.

        40

        41       Q.   Mr Beaumont has given evidence that he contacted the

        42       facilitator of that meeting, and there was a facilitator,

        43       whose name was Mr Grant Saligari, and the facilitator says,

        44       and his notes support it, that there was nothing such as

        45       you assert was discussed at that conference with

        46       Mr Beaumont.  What do you say about that?

        47       A.   No, I'd have to disagree with that.
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         1

         2       Q.   There were, of course, other people at this

         3       conference, who no doubt heard everything you said on the

         4       topic of trucking fees and the legality thereof?

         5       A.   Whether they heard everything or not, I couldn't

         6       answer that.

         7

         8       Q.   Just on a minor point, perhaps, at transcript

         9       pages 3456 to 3458 you gave some evidence that you were

        10       distressed after an interview and the allegations that you

        11       understood Arthur Andersen were making about you.  At

        12       page 3458, line 12, you said you went to Mr Beaumont's

        13       office and you spoke with him and told him about how upset

        14       you were.  You continued on to say that he took you to

        15       Mr Lindberg.  Mr Beaumont has given evidence that on that

        16       occasion he did not take you to Mr Lindberg's office and

        17       that you are mistaken in your recollection, that he took

        18       you in fact later, not on this particular occasion.  May he

        19       be correct and you be incorrect in that regard?

        20       A.   I'd just like to clarify one point there.  You

        21       mentioned after my interview with Arthur Andersen.  I did

        22       not know at that time who they were.

        23

        24       Q.   No, no, I said after the allegations; I didn't

        25       mention --

        26       A.   You mentioned Arthur Andersen.

        27

        28       Q.   I was trying to suggest to you that, whoever they

        29       were, you had been told something or were aware of some

        30       allegations that were being made against you.

        31       A.   That is correct.

        32

        33       Q.   And you went in a distressed state, or partly

        34       distressed state, to see Mr Beaumont.  Your evidence is to

        35       the effect that he took you in to see Mr Lindberg.

        36       Mr Beaumont has said that he didn't take you to see

        37       Mr Lindberg on that occasion, he counselled you and spoke

        38       to you and tried to allay your fears.

        39       A.   I went with Robin to see Mr Lindberg on two occasions.

        40       This was the first, not that particular day when I saw

        41       Robin but the day after, or thereabouts, after Robin had

        42       come back to me the following day.  I was still very upset

        43       and concerned and he went further to allay my fears to take

        44       me up to see Mr Lindberg.  The second occasion was a bit

        45       later.

        46

        47       Q.   Mr Beaumont denies your claim, if it be your claim,
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         1       that he was aware of the true nature of the trucking fee

         2       payments.  Do you accept that he could genuinely and

         3       honestly and properly say that, in giving his evidence?

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Isn't that a matter for me?

         6

         7       MR ABBOTT:   Yes, Commissioner.

         8

         9       THE WITNESS:   Sorry, do you want me to answer?

        10

        11       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   At page 3466, I'm now referring to line

        12       23, you talk about Mr Beaumont being present, or, sorry,

        13       Mr Officer or Mr Beaumont being present at an early stage

        14       when the mechanism was being put into place.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Where is that?

        17

        18       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   The words "Mr Officer or Mr Beaumont" are

        19       at lines 15 to 16, and the reference to it being at an

        20       early stage when the mechanism was being put into place is

        21       at lines 22 and 23.  I'm endeavouring to be as brief as I

        22       can, but I suggest the thrust of what you were saying was

        23       that Mr Beaumont or Mr Officer were present at the early

        24       stage when the mechanism in relation to trucking fees was

        25       put into place, and that you say that Mr Officer or

        26       Mr Beaumont gave you instructions in relation to the

        27       trucking fees.  Do you accept that that's the thrust of

        28       your evidence at page 3466?

        29       A.   The mechanism that we're talking about was put into

        30       place sometime in '99, the middle of '99, when Mr Beaumont

        31       wasn't there.

        32

        33       Q.   Exactly, that's my point.  You accept that your

        34       evidence at page 3466, insofar as it refers to Mr Beaumont,

        35       was in error?

        36       A.   Mr Beaumont was not at that earlier meeting.

        37

        38       Q.   There is one email that I want to refer you to.

        39

        40       MR ABBOTT:   Before I can conclude, I want to tender the

        41       AWB invoices in relation to the payment of trucking fees

        42       for the Pac Rim contract that's referred to of 25 October.

        43       These documents, although they are before the Commission,

        44       have not been tendered as exhibits, Commissioner.  It's

        45       five pages relating to the three ships.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can you show them to Mr Agius and
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         1       Mr Condon?  I thought we had, or were going to have,

         2       innumerable volumes which have all this material in.

         3

         4       MR ABBOTT:   I'm sure you will, Mr Commissioner.  If my

         5       learned friends assure me they will tender those documents,

         6       there's no need for me to do so.

         7

         8       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, I'm happy to tender these

         9       documents as a confidential exhibit.  I say confidential

        10       because they contain information which, on its face, is

        11       commercially confidential to AWB, such as the names of

        12       vessels.  I'm content for it to be tendered on that basis.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  I'll mark them confidential

        15       exhibit number 323C.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #323C AWB INVOICES IN RELATION TO THE PAYMENT OF

        18       TRUCKING FEES FOR THE PAC RIM CONTRACT REFERRED TO

        19       DATED 25 OCTOBER

        20

        21       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   The last topic I want to just ask you a

        22       couple of questions about is an email of yours to Mr Emons

        23       of 9 August 2000.  I don't think this is an exhibit,

        24       although it's one of the Commission documents.  It comes

        25       from one of the annexures to the Arthur Andersen report,

        26       Commissioner.  Could I hand a hard copy up to my learned

        27       friends and to the witness.  Let me know when you've read

        28       it.

        29       A.   Yes, thank you.

        30

        31       Q.   At this stage Mr Emons had left, that's why you're

        32       sending him an email to his new email address at aol.com;

        33       correct?

        34       A.   I accept your view that he'd left.  I don't know the

        35       exact date he left.

        36

        37       Q.   Yes.  We don't have Mr Emons' email to you, of course,

        38       but you say "thanks yours" - I presume that's a reference

        39       to thanking him for his email to you?

        40       A.   Could be.

        41

        42       Q.   You go on to say:

        43

        44            Little on edge, bit of understatement.

        45

        46       Presumably that's a reference to the email that he sent

        47       you, and your response to what's in that email is that
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         1       you're a little bit on edge, and even that's an

         2       understatement - that would appear to be the situation?

         3       A.   Certainly at that time the demurrage aspect was

         4       causing me a lot of stress, yes, so I possibly would have

         5       been on edge.

         6

         7       Q.   You then go on to say:

         8

         9            MK POK.

        10

        11       That's Michael Kudelka of Pac Rim?

        12       A.   It could be, yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Anyone else you'd suggest?

        15       A.   Not off the top of my head, I'm sorry.

        16

        17       Q.

        18

        19            Happy to meet for a beer if you like,

        20            perhaps before you see PB.

        21

        22       Who was "PB"?

        23       A.  "PB" I think was a ship broker.

        24

        25       Q.   Can you tell us why you sent this email to Mr Emons?

        26       A.   Sorry, I can't.  I do not know what he was saying to

        27       me to begin with.

        28

        29       MR ABBOTT:   Thank you.  I tender the email.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   You can't do that.  You have to get

        32       counsel assisting to do that.

        33

        34       MR ABBOTT:   Sorry, I ask that counsel tender it.

        35

        36       MR CONDON:   I take up the invitation.  It's AWB.0182.0172.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   It will be exhibit 718.

        39

        40       EXHIBIT #718 EMAIL FROM MR WATSON TO MR EMONS,

        41       DATED 9/8/2000, BARCODED AWB.0182.0172

        42

        43       <EXAMINATION BY MR KENNAN:

        44

        45       MR KENNAN:   Q.   Mr Watson, I represent Mr Hogan.  I just

        46       want to ask you a couple of questions.  You said in an

        47       earlier part of your evidence that there were members of a
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         1       core strategy team dealing with working out a way to make

         2       payments for the inland trucking fee to the IGB, and you

         3       mentioned Mr Hogan as being part of that team.  Do you

         4       remember saying that?

         5       A.   I do recall that.

         6

         7       Q.   In saying that, did you have regard particularly to

         8       the fact that he'd sent you an email in June 1999 - you and

         9       others - raising issues relating to how that trucking fee

        10       might be paid?

        11       A.   That is correct.

        12

        13       Q.   Because for the whole of 1999 and up to August 2000,

        14       for the rest of that time he was actually stationed in

        15       Cairo; is that correct?

        16       A.   I believe he was offshore - now you've said a date,

        17       that's recalled my memory, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   He wasn't, in the second half of 1999, attending

        20       meetings in the office in Melbourne; is that correct?

        21       A.   That is correct.

        22

        23       Q.   As far as other discussions in the office in Melbourne

        24       in 1999 regarding the mechanism for the payment of the

        25       trucking fee, he wasn't involved in discussions with you

        26       over that?

        27       A.   He was not in the office during that time, but, from

        28       memory, he was certainly part of telephone hook-ups and

        29       email traffic.

        30

        31       Q.   Do you have any specific recollection, apart from the

        32       emails, of him being involved in a telephone hook-up with

        33       you?

        34       A.   No specific --

        35

        36       Q.   I suggest to you also he was not involved in the

        37       resolution of the issue by way of payment to Alia?

        38       A.   Sorry, could you put to me - I'm not with you on that

        39       one.

        40

        41       Q.   Well, you don't recall you being present at any

        42       discussions of any kind with Mr Hogan about Alia in the

        43       second half of 1999?

        44       A.   I can't recall him being in the office in any of those

        45       meetings, no, correct, but he would - I do recall email

        46       traffic.

        47
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         1       Q.   But apart from the email, you don't have any specific

         2       recollection?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else have any questions?

         6

         7       <EXAMINATION BY MR LACAVA:

         8

         9       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Watson, when did you first meet

        10       Mr Stott?

        11       A.   I first saw him in AWB's office sometime in June of

        12       2000.  I do recall having met - not met him, but seeing him

        13       earlier in the year or something like that - in an earlier

        14       year at the AusAID, or something like that, but I didn't

        15       meet him at that time.

        16

        17       Q.   So you first met him in June of 2000?

        18       A.   When he came to the office.

        19

        20       Q.   When he came to the office - when he came around and

        21       was introduced?

        22       A.   He came around to the chartering area, yes.

        23

        24       Q.   Was he introduced to you by anyone?

        25       A.   I believe he was brought around by Tim Goodacre.

        26

        27       Q.   You received, did you not an email on 19 June 2000

        28       advising you that he would be brought around the office by

        29       Mr Goodacre and introduced; is that right?

        30       A.   I cannot recall that email.

        31

        32       Q.   Would you look at this document, please.

        33

        34       MR CONDON:   It's AWB.0359.0013.  That can be put up on the

        35       screen.

        36

        37       MR LACAVA:   Can we have that brought up, please.

        38

        39       MR CONDON:   I'm content for it to be tendered,

        40       Mr Commissioner.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  It will become exhibit 719.

        43

        44       EXHIBIT #719 EMAIL BARCODED AWB.0359.0013

        45

        46       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Do you have that on your screen now,

        47       Mr Watson?
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         1       A.   I do, thank you.

         2

         3       Q.   Do you recall getting that email?

         4       A.   No, I cannot.

         5

         6       Q.   Could it be lifted up a bit higher, please?  I'm not

         7       sure whether you have it on your screen, but in the very

         8       bottom line, on the first page, Mr Goodacre says:

         9

        10            I will be taking Charles on a walk around

        11            the office later today.

        12

        13       Do you see that?

        14       A.   I do see that.

        15

        16       Q.   Is that the first time you met Mr Stott, when

        17       Mr Goodacre brought Mr Stott around the office on a walk?

        18       A.   I believe so.

        19

        20       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.5058.0251, exhibit 286.

        21       Do you recall sending this email to Mr Emons at 4.56 on

        22       19 June?

        23       A.   I cannot recall sending that email.

        24

        25       Q.   You can't recall sending it?

        26       A.   I can see the content, but I can't recall sending it

        27       at that time.

        28

        29       Q.   You don't doubt that you sent it, do you?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   You see at about the middle of the email you say

        33       "CS" - that's a reference to Mr Stott, is it not?

        34       A.   It logically would be, yes.

        35

        36       Q.   "Did his rounds today, 1st question of me, the Iraqi

        37       Problem.  He asked what the issues were etc etc".  The

        38       "Iraqi Problem" that you refer to in that email to Mr Emons

        39       was the problem of demurrage, wasn't it?

        40       A.   Most likely.

        41

        42       Q.   Well, I don't want you to guess, Mr Watson.

        43       A.   Then in that case I cannot answer you with certainty.

        44

        45       Q.   You can't answer with certainty?  You have told the

        46       Commission in your evidence that when this meeting took

        47       place you told Mr Stott about the payment mechanism for the
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         1       inland trucking fees.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   When you say "when this meeting", do

         4       you mean the meeting contemplated by this email, or --

         5

         6       MR LACAVA:   Sorry, sir, I didn't hear you?

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you mean the first meeting when he

         9       was introduced or do you mean the meeting contemplated by

        10       the email?

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   I mean the meeting when he was introduced.

        13

        14       THE WITNESS:   With respect, I recall in my information

        15       saying that the issues of Iraq were discussed at the

        16       meeting, to my recollection, a couple of days later from

        17       this particular walk-about.

        18

        19       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Oh, is that your evidence today, is it,

        20       it didn't take place at this particular walk-about?

        21       A.   I recall saying in my evidence that the

        22       meeting - Mr Stott said, "Let's have a meeting a couple of

        23       days later", or words to that effect, which that happened,

        24       not at that walk-about.

        25

        26       Q.   You've changed your evidence, haven't you, Mr Watson?

        27       A.   I have not changed it.

        28

        29       Q.   In a significant way, haven't you?

        30       A.   I have not.

        31

        32       Q.   And you've done that because you now know that

        33       Mr Goodacre was at this meeting, wasn't he?

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which meeting?

        36

        37       MR LACAVA:   Q.   The first meeting on 19 June 2000?

        38       A.   No, I do not.

        39

        40       Q.   We'll have to go about it the long way.  Do you recall

        41       being asked, when you gave evidence before this Commission

        42       on your oath, on 27 February this year, at page 3449,

        43       line 12, this question - do you see you were asked, at

        44       line 7:

        45

        46            Q.   On the one hand you're corresponding

        47            with Mr Leventis, on the other hand, on the
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         1            same day, Mr Stott gives you these

         2            instructions.  Can you recall the

         3            background to how Mr Stott came to write

         4            this email?  Did he discuss it with you

         5            before he sent it?

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   This is an email of 25 July.

         8

         9       MR LACAVA:   Yes.  The email might be 25 July,

        10       Commissioner, but it's the questions and answers subsequent

        11       that I want to take the witness to.

        12

        13       Q.   You say:

        14

        15            A.   Mr Stott came in to the office

        16            sometime in June and had a meeting with me

        17            in terms of what was going on in general

        18            terms.

        19

        20       You were then asked:

        21

        22            Q.   Who was present at that particular

        23            meeting?

        24            A.   He walked round to the chartering

        25            area - I think he was being introduced and

        26            walked round to the chartering area,

        27            whereby he was introduced to me and had a

        28            brief meeting with me asking what we did,

        29            basically, and he had a very strong

        30            interest in Iraq, from memory.

        31

        32       Do you recall being asked that question and giving that

        33       answer on 27 February 2006?

        34       A.   I do.

        35

        36       Q.   The meeting you were referring to in your answer was

        37       the meeting where Mr Stott was being taken around and

        38       introduced to staff at AWB on 19 June 2000, wasn't it?

        39       A.   From my recollection of that initial meeting, he was

        40       walking around the department and therefore was being very

        41       brief in what was being discussed or asked, or was simply

        42       introducing himself.

        43

        44       Q.   Mr Watson, I'm asking you about evidence that you gave

        45       before this Commission on your oath on 27 February this

        46       year.  Do you understand?

        47       A.   I do understand.
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         1

         2       Q.   My question to you was when you gave the answer which

         3       we see at line 17 on page 3449, you were talking about the

         4       first time you met him, weren't you?

         5       A.   I was talking about the initial meeting, yes.

         6

         7       Q.   You were then asked:

         8

         9            Q.   What did he say about Iraq which gave

        10            you to think that he had such a strong

        11            interest?

        12

        13       Your answer as recorded is:

        14

        15            A. He wasn't - he wasn't really interested

        16            in the other markets that we were talking

        17            about.  He was just interested in Iraq and

        18            how we were doing business there.

        19

        20       Do you recall being asked that question and giving that

        21       answer?

        22       A.   I recall that answer, yes.

        23

        24       Q.   You were then asked:

        25

        26            Q.   Did he ask you that question --

        27

        28       you answered:

        29

        30            A. Yes.

        31

        32       You were asked:

        33

        34            Q.   -- as to how you were doing business?

        35            A.   Yes, I gave him a very brief overview

        36            in terms of what we did and how we did it,

        37            expressly making concern - I expressly told

        38            him about the mechanisms in place that AWB

        39            had come up with to make the trucking

        40            payments.

        41

        42       Do you remember being asked that question and giving that

        43       answer?

        44       A.   I remember there was - the substance of that which

        45       you're saying is correct, but I believe it took place at a

        46       later meeting.

        47
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         1       Q.   But when you were being asked in your evidence on

         2       27 February this year, you were clearly telling the

         3       Commission, weren't you, that this question of Mr Stott

         4       about Iraq and what you told him about it took place the

         5       very first time you met him?

         6       A.   Looking at this evidence there, you're correct.

         7

         8       Q.   And the evidence which you gave is false, isn't it?

         9       A.   With respect, I was trying to recall a meeting in June

        10       of 2000.  Whether that meeting took place at this time, I

        11       can't recall the exact date, but a meeting did take place

        12       and a subsequent meeting was also taking place.

        13

        14       Q.   You had no hesitation, Mr Watson, in telling the

        15       Commissioner, on your oath, that when you first met him, "I

        16       expressly told him about the mechanisms in place that AWB

        17       had come up with to make the trucking payments"?

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lacava, if the point is "first

        20       meeting" means the day he was introduced, as distinct from

        21       a few days later, I understand the point.  I don't think

        22       going over this again is going to help.  We now know

        23       there's an email which says there is going to be a meeting

        24       in a few days time, the witness says there was a meeting in

        25       a few days time, and the matter was discussed.  Whether it

        26       was two days later or not doesn't seem to me to make much

        27       difference.

        28

        29       MR LACAVA:   Well, it does to me, Commissioner, with the

        30       greatest respect, because this man is a liar on his oath

        31       and that is what I'm putting to him.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand, and you've established

        34       the point that you're trying to make - namely, he's wrong

        35       by a factor of two days as to when a conversation took

        36       place and that he said on oath that it occurred when he

        37       first met, he now says on oath that it occurred a couple of

        38       days later.  I understand that point, and that will give

        39       you the basis for saying he's a liar, if that's the point

        40       you want to make.

        41

        42       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Watson, you did not tell Mr Stott at

        43       all in June of 2000 about the payment mechanism in place,

        44       did you?

        45       A.   I did.

        46

        47       Q.   The gist of your evidence when you gave sworn evidence
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         1       on 27 February of this year was that when you first met

         2       with Mr Stott you told him about the payment mechanism and

         3       you told him that the payments were made through Ronly and

         4       Ronly was used in order to distance AWB from making the

         5       payments.  Have I summarised your evidence correctly?

         6       A.   You missed out one small part, in as much as I also

         7       told him about the shipping companies that were being

         8       involved.

         9

        10       Q.   Do you recall giving evidence about these matters in

        11       January of this year?  Do you?

        12       A.   Perhaps you could assist me in what particular area

        13       you're asking me about.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, do you recall giving evidence before the

        16       Commission, on your oath, on 6 January of this year?

        17       A.   I recall being - giving evidence, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   And do you recall being asked about the method of

        20       payment through ship owners?

        21

        22       MR CONDON:   I think perhaps Mr Watson should be shown the

        23       transcript, with great respect.

        24

        25       MR LACAVA:   I'm going to take him, with great respect, to

        26       the transcript in a moment.  I just want to see whether or

        27       not the witness recalls it.

        28

        29       Q.   Do you recall it?

        30       A.   I do.

        31

        32       Q.   Could the witness be shown, please, exhibit 424 in its

        33       entirety.  I don't want you to look at your partner down in

        34       the back corner for encouragement or advice either,

        35       Mr Watson, when you're answering these questions; do you

        36       understand?  Could the witness be shown exhibit 424,

        37       please.

        38

        39       MR CONDON:   It appears to be unmarked.

        40

        41       MR LACAVA:   Thank you.

        42

        43       MR CONDON:   There may be some pages missing.

        44

        45       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Watson, could you go, please, to

        46       page 395.  You were asked at line 9:

        47
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         1            Q.   Were you involved in those payments?

         2

         3       Perhaps you should go back to line 4:

         4

         5            We know that there were examples, many

         6            instances where payment was made by AWB

         7            directly to Alia.

         8            A. Yes.

         9

        10       You were then asked:

        11

        12            Q.   Were you involved in those payments?

        13

        14       And you gave an answer.  Could you just read down that

        15       page, please, to the bottom and refresh your memory of the

        16       evidence you gave on 6 January this year.  Tell me when

        17       you've finished, please, if you would.

        18       A.   I've finished.

        19

        20       Q.   Thank you.  Now, would you go over the page.  You were

        21       asked at line 8:

        22

        23            Q.   And did you use Ronly to effect

        24            payments?

        25

        26       Your answer as recorded is:

        27

        28            A.   Ronly were a ship owner in the same

        29            way as it would have been in the same

        30            process as - as a ship owner, they would

        31            have been the - paid the trucking fees on

        32            some occasions and passed it on, I guess -

        33            I'd assume.

        34

        35       Then you were asked some other matters about Ronly.  At

        36       line 20 you were asked:

        37

        38            Q.   In circumstances where the ship owner

        39            was not Ronly or where Ronly was not

        40            involved as a conduit for the payment of

        41            these fees, did the ship owner receive any

        42            kind of commission for providing that

        43            service for the payment of the fees?

        44

        45       You answer:

        46

        47            A.   I believe they did...
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         1

         2       Now, I want to take you over, if I could, to page 398.  You

         3       were asked this question by Mr Agius:

         4

         5            Q.   Why would AWB make that arrangement

         6            and pay a fee for a ship owner to make the

         7            payment to Alia rather than make it direct

         8            itself and save itself the fee?

         9            A.   I honestly don't know.  I'm assuming

        10            that the reason - well, I can't assume

        11            anything, but I'm guessing the reason for

        12            making the payment via the ship owner in

        13            the first place was about whatever reason

        14            was given, whatever reason required that.

        15            The same process would have said, okay

        16            anything - any fees attached to it would be

        17            paid as well.  I don't know what the - why

        18            the decision was made to pay via the ship

        19            owner in the first place.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's the passage that was corrected

        22       on 27 February.

        23

        24       MR LACAVA:   Was it, in what way, sir?

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have a note about that.  That's all

        27       it says.  I imagine he gave evidence to the effect that it

        28       was wrong.

        29

        30       MR LACAVA:   Well, that was going to be my question.

        31       Perhaps we can clarify.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   If you look at 27 February, I'm sure

        34       you'll find out that's what he said.

        35

        36       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Do you recall being asked the question

        37       and giving that answer on 6 January?

        38       A.   Reading the transcript, I now recall it, yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Was the answer true or false?

        41       A.   At that time it was not the correct answer.

        42

        43       Q.   It was false, was it?

        44       A.   It was not the correct answer.

        45

        46       Q.   Was it false?

        47       A.   I corrected the answer later.
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         1

         2       Q.   Over the page, at line 12, you were asked:

         3

         4            Q.   Was this method of paying money

         5            through ship owners as a conduit discussed

         6            within AWB as a method of in fact

         7            transmitting the money to the IGB or its

         8            Iraqi nominees?

         9            A.   I can't recall that - if it was, I

        10            can't recall that.

        11

        12       Do you remember being asked that question and giving that

        13       answer?

        14       A.   Again, reading the transcript, I can see it.

        15

        16       Q.   Was that answer true or false?

        17       A.   I believe I also corrected that answer.

        18

        19       Q.   Was it true or false?

        20       A.   It is not the correct answer.

        21

        22       Q.   Is it recorded incorrectly, or is your answer false?

        23       A.   My answer was not correct.

        24

        25       Q.   Thank you.  You were then asked:

        26

        27            Q.   Your recollection doesn't assist you

        28            one way or the other?

        29

        30       Your answer was:

        31

        32            A.   If it was, I wouldn't have been at

        33            that meeting that took place.  So, as I

        34            say, I can't recollect it.  I wouldn't have

        35            been involved - I wouldn't have been

        36            involved at that level, I guess is one way

        37            of putting it.

        38

        39       Was that true?

        40       A.   With respect, at that time I was doing my very best to

        41       recall what was happening six years earlier.  Now, I

        42       appreciate what you're saying, that my answers there, which

        43       I'm now reading, aren't as full as they could have been.

        44

        45       Q.   When you say "at that time", you're referring to

        46       6 January this year --

        47       A.   That is correct.



            .4/4/06 (59)               5923     M F WATSON (Mr Lacava)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       Q.   -- and the evidence that you gave before the

         3       Commission on your oath?

         4       A.   That is correct.

         5

         6       Q.   When you gave evidence on that day, you were prepared

         7       to tell lies to the Commission on your oath in order to

         8       extricate yourself from involvement in payment of these

         9       fees, weren't you?

        10       A.   No, I was not.

        11

        12       Q.   Yet you admit, don't you, that some of the answers

        13       that you gave were false?

        14       A.   Which I subsequently corrected.

        15

        16       Q.   But let's leave aside the subsequent corrections.

        17       When you gave evidence on 6 January this year, you gave

        18       false evidence, didn't you?

        19       A.   I gave evidence which was inaccurate.

        20

        21       Q.   Did you clear up any of these inaccuracies in your

        22       supplementary statutory declaration - exhibit 426?  Could

        23       the witness be handed a copy of that, please?

        24

        25       MR CONDON:   I'll supply a copy.  Commissioner, while

        26       that's being done, the note about T398 appears at T3467.33.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        29

        30       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Could you just have a look through

        31       exhibit 426, please, Mr Watson?   Tell me when you've

        32       finished, if you would?

        33       A.   I've briefly read it.  Were there any particular areas

        34       you wanted me to go to?

        35

        36       Q.   Well, could you tell me if you clarified any of your

        37       evidence about matters that I've asked you about today in

        38       this supplementary statutory declaration?

        39       A.   Well, again, can you assist me as to what you --

        40

        41       Q.   No, I want you to assist me.  You didn't clarify any

        42       of the false evidence you gave before this Commission on

        43       6 January this year in your supplementary statutory

        44       declaration, did you?

        45

        46       MR CONDON:   Is my learned friend asking about matters he's

        47       just taken this witness to, or generally?
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         1

         2       MR LACAVA:   No, the matters I've just taken the witness

         3       to.

         4

         5       MR CONDON:   I appreciate that.

         6

         7       THE WITNESS:   I would have to say I've added to my earlier

         8       one.

         9

        10       MR LACAVA:   Q.   But you haven't corrected any of the

        11       false evidence you gave on 6 January, have you - six days

        12       previously?

        13       A.   With respect, I seem to have added more information to

        14       what I initially gave.

        15

        16       Q.   You were recalled and gave further evidence on

        17       27 February; correct?

        18       A.   I was.

        19

        20       Q.   When you gave that evidence you produced to the

        21       inquiry exhibit 428, which was a document signed by you on

        22       27 February, didn't you?

        23       A.   Can I see that, please?

        24

        25       Q.   Could the witness be shown exhibit 428, please,

        26       WST.0014.0001.

        27

        28       MR CONDON:   I'll supply a copy.

        29

        30       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Did you correct any of the false evidence

        31       you gave on 6 January in this further supplementary

        32       statement, Mr Watson?

        33       A.   I did.

        34

        35       Q.   You did?

        36       A.   (Witness nods).

        37

        38       Q.   You did not address the matters that I've taken you to

        39       today, did you?

        40

        41       MR CONDON:   I think, in fairness, the witness refers to

        42       Mr Emons' summary of topics, which does address some

        43       issues, I'm not sure these ones in particular.  Perhaps he

        44       should be shown that document before answering that

        45       question.

        46

        47       MR LACAVA:   Very well.  Could the witness be shown
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         1       exhibit 427, please.

         2

         3       MR CONDON:   I'll supply a copy.

         4

         5       MR LACAVA:   Q.   This was your commentary on Mr Emons'

         6       evidence, wasn't it?

         7       A.   It was.

         8

         9       Q.   And you did not address any of the false evidence that

        10       I've taken you to today in this document, did you?

        11       A.   I've addressed some of the questions that you have

        12       raised today in the document which is marked 428, in

        13       numbers 3 and 4, which I can see here, and also number 6, I

        14       believe.

        15

        16       Q.   So if we look at paragraph 2, you say that you've

        17       addressed some of the matters that I've asked you about

        18       today, do you?

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   He said 3, 4 and 6, I thought.

        21

        22       THE WITNESS:   3, 4 and 6, I said.

        23

        24       MR LACAVA:   Q.   3, 4 and 6.  Well, in 3 you say:

        25

        26            I was involved in implementing the

        27            mechanisms for and in making the trucking

        28            payments to Iraq between approximately late

        29            June 1999 and throughout 2000.  I have

        30            recently seen the email from Hogan...

        31

        32       You're not dealing with the payment of the fees through

        33       shippers or through Ronly in that paragraph, are you?

        34       A.   Not in that paragraph, no.

        35

        36       Q.   Well, in the next paragraph you touch on Ronly, don't

        37       you?  You say:

        38

        39            ...I organised for the payment of the

        40            trucking fee to be made through third

        41            parties such as ship owners or Ronly to the

        42            nominee of the Iraq Grain Board...

        43

        44       A.   That's correct.

        45

        46       Q.   That's truthful, is it?

        47       A.   That is correct.
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         1

         2       Q.   So you say that's where you, what, clarified the

         3       evidence that you gave on 6 January; is that the way you

         4       put it?

         5       A.   Clarified or adding.

         6

         7       Q.   Adding.  Not correcting a lie?

         8       A.   Clarifying my earlier information or earlier

         9       statement.

        10

        11       Q.   Mr Watson, in any of the documents that I've taken you

        12       to today - and I add one, your first statutory declaration,

        13       made on 6 January - have you given any evidence at all

        14       about your discussions with Mr Stott on 19 June 2000?

        15       A.   I don't think I was ever asked about having a meeting

        16       with Mr Stott.

        17

        18       Q.   What I suggest to you is that when you were giving

        19       evidence before this inquiry on 27 February this year your

        20       evidence clearly was to the effect that your discussions

        21       with Mr Stott where you told him about this payment

        22       mechanism were shortly after your first introduction with

        23       him - that was the effect of your evidence, wasn't it?

        24       A.   That I told Mr Stott about these payments in the

        25       initial meeting or shortly afterwards.

        26

        27       Q.   When you first met him?

        28       A.   Or shortly afterwards, correct.

        29

        30       Q.   When you first met him?

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   We've been over this, Mr Lacava.  Let's

        33       not go over it again.

        34

        35       MR LACAVA:   Well, Commissioner, I must say that I'm

        36       somewhat at a loss to know why it is that the Commission

        37       keeps coming to the assistance of someone who has lied on

        38       their oath.  I'm entitled to push the witness, in my

        39       submission.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   I do not accept that this Commission is

        42       coming to the assistance of anybody.  This Commission is

        43       here to conduct an independent inquiry and is doing so.

        44       You have made the point, as I have pointed out to you

        45       already, that you wish to put a submission to me in due

        46       course that there is a difference between the evidence in

        47       one part of the transcript where he said a meeting occurred
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         1       on the day he met Mr Stott and his later evidence, where he

         2       said that that meeting occurred a day or two afterwards.

         3       If that's the basis upon which you wish to put a submission

         4       to me that this witness lied, so be it.  You've covered

         5       that once, you've now covered it twice, and that's adequate

         6       for the purposes of this Commission, thank you.  Please

         7       proceed to something else.

         8

         9       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Watson, the evidence that you gave to

        10       this inquiry on 27 February of this year relating to your

        11       conversations with Mr Stott was false, wasn't it?

        12       A.   No, it was not.

        13

        14       Q.   You made it up in order to try to enhance a case for

        15       yourself that you have cooperated fully with this inquiry,

        16       haven't you?

        17       A.   That is incorrect.

        18

        19       MR LACAVA:   Thank you, Commissioner.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Allen?

        22

        23       MR ALLEN:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner.

        24

        25       <EXAMINATION BY MR ALLEN:

        26

        27       MR ALLEN:   Q.   Mr Watson, I appear for Andrew Lindberg.

        28       I have just a few matters to ask you about, to clarify,

        29       really, from the evidence you've earlier given.  When you

        30       were here on 27 February you were asked about your

        31       conversations with Mr Beaumont and you said that you had

        32       mentioned to Mr Beaumont that you were concerned that you

        33       might be seen to be the responsible party for the

        34       implementing of the mechanisms in place in reference to the

        35       trucking fees - you remember giving that evidence?

        36       A.   I do.

        37

        38       Q.   You're aware, of course, that Mr Beaumont has given

        39       evidence when he came along, more than once - in three

        40       different places, in fact, in the transcript - that no such

        41       conversation occurred; you know that?

        42       A.   I have not read Mr Beaumont's transcript.

        43

        44       Q.   Of course, what you were doing when you were giving

        45       evidence about that conversation was casting your mind back

        46       some six and a half years, weren't you?

        47       A.   I was.
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         1

         2       Q.   You have no notes of that conversation with

         3       Mr Beaumont?

         4       A.   I do not.

         5

         6       Q.   You'd had many conversations with Mr Beaumont during

         7       the period up to your departure from AWB, hadn't you?

         8       A.   I had.

         9

        10       Q.   You'd had many conversations with Mr Beaumont about

        11       things within the chartering division which caused you

        12       concern and stress and, at times, anger and annoyance,

        13       hadn't you?

        14       A.   I had.

        15

        16       Q.   Well, you've said that you respect Mr Beaumont.  Is it

        17       possible, given that you're relying on a recollection six

        18       and a half years old, without the aid of any

        19       contemporaneous note or record, that you just might be

        20       wrong, or are you infallible?

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   I reject that question.

        23

        24       MR ALLEN:   Q.   Is it possible that you might be wrong?

        25       A.   I'd have to say no.

        26

        27       Q.   It's not possible?

        28       A.   Sorry, I could be - it is possible I could be wrong,

        29       but not in this instance, my conversation with Mr Beaumont.

        30

        31       Q.   All right.  You went on to say that, as a result of

        32       that conversation, Mr Beaumont came back to you and said

        33       that he'd had a discussion with Mr Lindberg that was about

        34       your desire to leave the company; is that right?

        35       A.   No, that initial meeting which I referred to was after

        36       I had been interviewed by what I learnt later to be the

        37       Arthur Andersen people and I went to see Robin after that

        38       meeting.

        39

        40       Q.   And that was followed up with a meeting with

        41       Mr Lindberg; correct?

        42       A.   Mr Beaumont said he would look into the matter further

        43       and he came back to me subsequently and assured me that he

        44       had made his investigations and he then took me to see

        45       Mr Lindberg.

        46

        47       Q.   All right.  You were asked by Mr Condon, when you were
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         1       being asked on 27 February - this is at page 3459, line

         2       10 - "What did you say to Mr Lindberg?"  I'll go back a

         3       bit, up to the top of the page, line 1 - it's coming up on

         4       the screen now for you, Mr Watson - you were being asked

         5       about this meeting.  You said:

         6

         7            It was just Andrew, Robin Beaumont and

         8            myself.

         9

        10       You were asked to tell the Commissioner the substance of

        11       what was discussed.  You said that Mr Lindberg said to you

        12       words to the effect - you couldn't remember the exact

        13       words, but the words were to the effect - that he was

        14       satisfied with your performance and to get back to doing a

        15       good job.  Is that your recollection of what Mr Lindberg

        16       said to you?

        17       A.   That was the gist.  As I say, I can't remember the

        18       exact words.

        19

        20       Q.   Yes.  Then Mr Condon asked you:

        21

        22            Q.   Well, what did you say to Mr Lindberg,

        23            if anything, before he made that statement

        24            to you?

        25

        26       You said:

        27

        28            A.   I had actually said nothing to

        29            Mr Lindberg.  I think Robin Beaumont had

        30            said something to him.

        31

        32       Do you see that?

        33       A.   I do see that.

        34

        35       Q.   That's still your recollection, such as it is, of this

        36       meeting that took place six and a half years ago, that you

        37       hadn't actually said anything to Mr Lindberg before he told

        38       you that he thought your performance was good and you

        39       should get back to doing a good job?

        40       A.   That's the best I can recollect, yes.

        41

        42       Q.   Then you were asked whether you had an impression that

        43       they'd already spoken.  You said:

        44

        45            A.   They had definitely spoken about my

        46            concerns.

        47
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         1       Do you see that at line 22?

         2       A.   I do see that.

         3

         4       Q.   That was an assumption you made; correct?

         5       A.   It was.

         6

         7       Q.   You don't say that you heard any conversation between

         8       Mr Beaumont and Mr Lindberg as to what your concerns were,

         9       do you, but, rather, you had an impression that they had

        10       already spoken about it?

        11       A.   I had the impression.

        12

        13       Q.   Thank you.  Then you were asked by Mr Condon was

        14       anything else said, and you said:

        15

        16            A.   Andrew asked - he asked general

        17            questions about chartering operation and

        18            whether - was I happy with the way that

        19            chartering was performing, and questions of

        20            that nature.

        21

        22       Is that your recollection still?

        23       A.   I'd have to say yes.

        24

        25       Q.   All right.  So there was nothing said to you by

        26       Mr Lindberg that indicated that he had any knowledge of any

        27       trucking fees or any trucking company, or anything like

        28       that, during this conversation, was there?

        29       A.   No.

        30

        31       Q.   He was complimentary of the way you were managing the

        32       Iraq program, in particular the demurrage issues; correct?

        33       A.   That was the focus at the time, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   There was no mention of trucking fees or Ronly or

        36       Alia, or anything like that, was there?

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   And then you were asked "Was that the end of the

        40       conversation?", and you said you briefly touched upon the

        41       terms of the structuring of the people within chartering,

        42       you said you weren't happy with the way AWB was running

        43       chartering, and he told you to go away and come up with

        44       some proposals for him in terms of a new structure as to

        45       how chartering people should be placed; correct?

        46       A.   That's correct.

        47
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         1       Q.   That's your recollection of that meeting?

         2       A.   Yes, it is.

         3

         4       Q.   Can I suggest to you that that conversation, or a

         5       conversation along those lines, about you doing a good job

         6       in chartering, about Mr Lindberg expressing concern about

         7       demurrage and you telling him you were worried about the

         8       way chartering was being run by AWB and you had some ideas,

         9       and his invitation to you to go away and come up with some

        10       concrete proposals and come back to him, that conversation

        11       occurred later in the year, in the context of you going up

        12       to see him with Mr Beaumont after you'd indicated to

        13       Mr Beaumont you wanted to resign; is that possible?

        14       A.   There was a meeting later in the year certainly to

        15       discuss what you have mentioned.

        16

        17       Q.   When you said you wanted to resign?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   What I'm putting to you is that this conversation you

        21       have a recollection of with Mr Lindberg was in fact the

        22       conversation with Mr Lindberg that took place later in the

        23       year, in the context of you suggesting that you wanted to

        24       leave AWB because you weren't happy with the way things

        25       were going in chartering, is that possible, and you've

        26       confused these conversations - is that a possibility?

        27       A.   There are two separate issues here.  One was me

        28       wanting to resign.  The other one was more of an emotion

        29       point after that particular meeting, that I wanted

        30       reassurance.

        31

        32       Q.   Yes, but as you've agreed, your recollection of this

        33       first meeting with Mr Lindberg does not include anything

        34       about any discussion with Mr Lindberg or in his presence

        35       about the mechanism for trucking fees or Alia or anything

        36       of the kind, does it?

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   You just assume, as you sit there now, and you did

        40       when you gave evidence in February, that those matters had

        41       been discussed between Beaumont and Lindberg; correct?

        42       A.   What I had assumed was a conversation about what had

        43       happened after I saw Robin the day before, or whatever it

        44       was, earlier.

        45

        46       Q.   All right.  But the actual conversation you had with

        47       Mr Lindberg was generally about the problems in chartering,
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         1       his impression you were doing a good job, and his

         2       encouragement to you to keep it up and, if you had some

         3       specific suggestions to make, to put them in writing and

         4       come back and discuss them with him; correct?

         5       A.   In general terms, yes, after reassuring me that was

         6       okay.

         7

         8       Q.   Yes.  After reassuring you what?

         9       A.   After Robin's - after my conversation earlier with

        10       Robin.

        11

        12       Q.   Yes, but there was no reference by Mr Lindberg or you

        13       or Mr Beaumont in your presence during that conversation to

        14       your concerns about trucking and the mechanisms put in

        15       place for trucking, was there?

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       Q.   Rather, there was a conversation that went on for,

        19       what, 10 or 15 minutes about the problems in the chartering

        20       division; correct?

        21       A.   Problems in the chartering division were discussed

        22       during the same meeting.

        23

        24       Q.   You doing a good job - that was discussed?

        25       A.   It was.

        26

        27       Q.   You being invited to come back with some ideas and

        28       proposals about how to improve it - that was discussed?

        29       A.   It was.

        30

        31       Q.   That's all you can recall being discussed with or in

        32       the presence of Mr Lindberg on that occasion; is that

        33       correct?

        34       A.   Apart from him also reassuring what Robin had already

        35       told me.

        36

        37       Q.   Well, what did he say?  How did he reassure you about

        38       what Robin had already told him?  There's no mention of

        39       trucks, mechanisms.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Told this witness, not told him.

        42

        43       MR ALLEN:   Sorry, sir?

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   He said "what Robin had already told

        46       me".

        47
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         1       MR ALLEN:   Oh, I see.  Thank you.

         2

         3       Q.   During the meeting with Mr Lindberg what I've put to

         4       you about problems in the chartering division, your

         5       concerns about them, the expression of an opinion on the

         6       part of Mr Lindberg that he thought you were doing a good

         7       job, the invitation to come back with some ideas about how

         8       to improve the division, that's all you can remember

         9       actually being discussed when you were with Mr Lindberg,

        10       isn't it?

        11       A.   There's two parts again.  That was certainly

        12       discussed, I mentioned that.  But that was not the reason I

        13       had a discussion with him in the first instance.

        14

        15       Q.   It may not have been the reason in your mind; I'm

        16       asking you about what was discussed when you were with

        17       Mr Lindberg.  Was there anything else discussed with

        18       Mr Lindberg when you were with him, in your presence, that

        19       you heard?

        20       A.   No.

        21

        22       Q.   Thank you.  Then in your evidence on the 27th you gave

        23       evidence about this second meeting, which occurred, as I

        24       understand it, later in the year, November or December; is

        25       that about right?

        26       A.   That would be about right, yes.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   The transcript?

        29

        30       MR ALLEN:   Sorry, sir?

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   The transcript reference?

        33

        34       MR ALLEN:   Yes, sir, 3461.

        35

        36       Q.   This second meeting with Mr Lindberg came about, as I

        37       understand your evidence, in the context of you having

        38       indicated to Mr Beaumont that you wanted to resign; is that

        39       correct?

        40       A.   That is correct.

        41

        42       Q.   So you went upstairs sometime after that

        43       conversation - it might have been that day or the next

        44       day - to see Mr Lindberg; is that correct?

        45       A.   That is correct.

        46

        47       Q.   You told them - that is, Mr Lindberg and
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         1       Mr Beaumont - in that meeting that you wished to resign

         2       because you were very frustrated, stressed out and tired

         3       with AWB as a whole, and they said, "Don't do that, we want

         4       you to stay.  What are your concerns?" Is that right?

         5       A.   In general terms, correct.

         6

         7       Q.   And you replied that your biggest concern at the time

         8       was the in-house fighting that was taking place within the

         9       chartering area, and they said, "Go away and put a proposal

        10       together as to how you see chartering working and what

        11       would make you happy to stay on"; is that true?

        12       A.   Correct.

        13

        14       Q.   There was no discussion at that meeting with

        15       Mr Lindberg about trucking fees or any mechanism or Alia or

        16       your concern that you might be the last man standing in

        17       relation to the people who'd set the trucking fee mechanism

        18       up, was there?

        19       A.   There was no specific recollection to trucking or

        20       payments to Alia.  There was at that time the main focus as

        21       to why I was wanting to leave.

        22

        23       Q.   Sorry?

        24       A.   The main focus of that meeting was the reason why I

        25       wanted to resign.

        26

        27       Q.   And the main focus of why you wanted to resign, as you

        28       told them at that meeting, was your concerns about the

        29       in-house fighting within the chartering area and your

        30       frustration and stress about the way AWB was running

        31       chartering; is that correct?

        32       A.   That's correct.

        33

        34       Q.   You didn't say it had anything to do with trucking or

        35       Alia or Ronly or any shonky mechanism, did you?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   Again, on this occasion Mr Lindberg reassured you that

        39       they were happy with the way you'd been working and,

        40       according to you, again asked you to come back with some

        41       proposal, if you had any, as to how things could be changed

        42       in a way that would make you content and stay; correct?

        43       A.   Correct.

        44

        45       Q.   Let me suggest to you that it was after that meeting,

        46       later in the year, that you did come back with a proposal.

        47       You went away and had a couple of days off, didn't you?
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         1       A.   I think this time was about December, I believe, or

         2       thereabouts.

         3

         4       Q.   Yes, later in the year.  This is what you've referred

         5       to as a second meeting with Mr Lindberg?

         6       A.   Yes, correct.

         7

         8       Q.   Amongst other things, he said, "Look, take a day or

         9       two off.  You're stressed.  Go away and come back to me

        10       with some ideas about how we might improve chartering.  We

        11       don't want to lose you, Michael" - he said something like

        12       that, didn't he?

        13       A.   Certainly I was told to go away and come back with a

        14       proposal, yes.  I can't actually recall him saying that.

        15

        16       Q.   He was encouraging, wasn't he?

        17       A.   He was encouraging.

        18

        19       Q.   And you came back with some proposals?

        20       A.   I did.

        21

        22       Q.   And had a further meeting to put them - to

        23       Mr Beaumont, at least?

        24       A.   I put them to Mr Beaumont.

        25

        26       Q.   There was nothing in your document which you came back

        27       with which said anything about trucking fees or Alia or

        28       Ronly, was there?

        29       A.   No, there was not.

        30

        31       Q.   At that second meeting no-one - neither you nor

        32       Mr Lindberg nor Mr Beaumont - said anything about trucking

        33       fees or Alia or Ronly at all, did they, or did you?

        34       A.   Not to my recollection.

        35

        36       Q.   When you were asked a question at page 3461 at line 36

        37       by Mr Condon:

        38

        39            Did you express that concern --

        40

        41       which was a concern that you explained a little earlier as

        42       a concern that you'd be held responsible for what was going

        43       on --

        44

        45            to either Mr Beaumont or Mr Lindberg?

        46

        47       You said:
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         1

         2            I did on two occasions.  The first time was

         3            when I went to see Andrew the first time.

         4            The second time was when I was taken up

         5            again for the resignation.

         6

         7       Do you remember giving that evidence?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   You don't say that you expressed your concern to

        11       Mr Lindberg on either of those two occasions, do you?

        12       A.   I do not.

        13

        14       Q.   Rather, you claim you expressed your concern to

        15       Mr Beaumont and you assumed that he said something to

        16       Mr Lindberg about it.

        17       A.   Certainly on the first meeting, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Just by the way, at line 47, on page 3461 you were

        20       asked:

        21

        22            And you articulated that concern.  What was

        23            the response from either Mr Lindberg or

        24            Mr Beaumont?

        25

        26       You said:

        27

        28            They gave me the impression that I should

        29            not be concerned at all.  I can't recall

        30            their exact words, but they said, "Don't

        31            worry about it", or words to that effect.

        32

        33       Do you remember giving that evidence?

        34       A.   I can see that.

        35

        36       Q.   Putting to one side whatever you claim Mr Beaumont

        37       might have said to you, you don't say that Mr Lindberg said

        38       "don't worry about it" in the context of any trucking fees

        39       or Alia or Ronly, do you?

        40       A.   Not in the way you ask that question, no.

        41

        42       Q.   If we go to page 3462, at line 18 you were asked:

        43

        44            Did you do anything else to communicate

        45            your concerns to anyone else within AWB?

        46

        47       You understood that meant concerns about the trucking fee
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         1       mechanism; is that what you understood the question to

         2       mean?

         3       A.   I do.

         4

         5       Q.   As I understand your evidence now, you don't say you

         6       indicated your concerns about the trucking fee mechanism to

         7       Mr Lindberg, do you, but, rather, to Mr Beaumont - correct?

         8       A.   Certainly the majority - all my conversations that

         9       I've mentioned were all Mr Beaumont, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Yes, and never to Lindberg.  You had two meetings with

        12       him and at neither of those meetings did you mention any

        13       concern about trucking fees to Mr Lindberg, did you?

        14       You've already agreed to that?

        15       A.   I'm just trying to think what - in terms of the

        16       question, when I went to see Beaumont after that meeting

        17       which I had with Arthur Andersen they were the areas I was

        18       focused upon.

        19

        20       Q.   Yes, with Mr Beaumont?

        21       A.   With Beaumont, who then took me - who had this

        22       conversation with Lindberg.

        23

        24       Q.   We've been through that?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   At neither of those meetings did you mention any

        28       concern about trucking fees to Mr Lindberg - trucking fees

        29       weren't even mentioned; is that correct?

        30       A.   I can't recall if actually the words "trucking fee"

        31       were mentioned in its own - by a single action, yes, in its

        32       own breath.

        33

        34       Q.   We might have to start again.  I was really, with that

        35       question, trying to summarise what your evidence has been

        36       as I've understood it for the last 20 minutes.  I suggested

        37       to you that you've already told the Commissioner that at

        38       neither of those two meetings was there any mention by

        39       anyone of Alia or trucking fees or Ronly or shonky

        40       mechanisms or anything of the kind; is that true?

        41       A.   That is correct.

        42

        43       Q.   Thank you.  On no other occasion did you express or

        44       communicate any concern to Mr Lindberg about those topics,

        45       did you?

        46       A.   No, I did not.

        47
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         1       Q.   Thank you.  And you said, "No, I did not" back on

         2       27 February - "my focus was just to try and leave the

         3       organisation"; do you remember saying that?

         4       A.   I do.

         5

         6       Q.   You might have meant it that way, but the context came

         7       across as you wanting to leave the organisation because of

         8       the concern about what you'd been involved with with the

         9       trucking fee mechanism.  That's not what you meant, though,

        10       is it?

        11       A.   My reasons for wanting to leave AWB at that time was

        12       the pure stress and in-house fighting that was taking

        13       place.

        14

        15       Q.   You didn't want to leave AWB because of any pangs of

        16       conscience or concern about the trucking fee mechanism, did

        17       you?

        18       A.   No, I did not.

        19

        20       Q.   You didn't want to leave AWB because you thought that

        21       you might be pinged with responsibility, being the last man

        22       standing in relation to the establishment of the trucking

        23       fee mechanism, did you?

        24       A.   That was not the reason for me wanting to leave.

        25

        26       Q.   When did you actually leave, I should ask you; do you

        27       remember?

        28       A.   I believe I physically left the building in the very

        29       early few days in January.  I can't remember the exact

        30       date.

        31

        32       Q.   Within a few weeks you wrote to Mr Lindberg asking for

        33       your job back after you'd resigned, didn't you?

        34       A.   I didn't actually write saying I wanted my job back.

        35       I wrote on the basis that AWB chartering were looking

        36       around for a new chartering manager and they were in a

        37       mess.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   And what?

        40       A.   And they were in a mess.

        41

        42       MR ALLEN:   Q.   The mess they were in had nothing to do

        43       with trucking fees or any --

        44       A.   No.

        45

        46       Q.   Could we look at this document, please.  I have

        47       multiple copies here, Mr Commissioner, for our learned
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         1       friends and yourself and the witness.  Just have a look at

         2       that document.  Just familiarise yourself with it for a

         3       moment.  Is that a copy of an email that you forwarded to

         4       Mr Lindberg on 21 January 2001?

         5       A.   It certainly looks like my style of writing, yes.

         6

         7       Q.   I appreciate that it's hard to remember things that

         8       occurred even a couple of months ago, as you've indicated

         9       this morning, but certainly looking at it you'd be able to

        10       say that it appears to be an email you sent to Mr Lindberg

        11       on that day?

        12       A.   That is correct.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do we have Mr Lindberg's reply, if

        15       there was one?

        16

        17       MR ALLEN:   No, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   You can see that you say a bit about your opinions

        20       about the importance of the chartering group, and then you

        21       say that you thought there were some problems with a

        22       particular person, whose name I won't besmirch in this

        23       public place unnecessarily, but you had an opinion about

        24       him and said that now that that person had gone you thought

        25       the barriers to chartering operations that had been created

        26       were now gone and you suggested that you might meet with

        27       Mr Lindberg to discuss the future development of the

        28       chartering group and potentially your involvement; correct?

        29       A.   That is correct.

        30

        31       Q.   In other words, have a chat with a view possibly to

        32       going back and taking up your position again, either as an

        33       employee or as some sort of consultant?

        34       A.   One of the proposals I put forward to Robin

        35       subsequently and Mr Lindberg prior to my departure was a

        36       map of restructuring the chartering area.  That was what I

        37       thought to be the future of how AWB chartering would move

        38       forward, and I would have liked to have had - if that model

        39       had been adopted, I would have been happy to be involved in

        40       some way.

        41

        42       Q.   Now that this particular individual who you name in

        43       this document had resigned, you saw this as an opportune

        44       time to move forward?

        45       A.   Sorry, could you please repeat that question?

        46

        47       Q.   Now that this person had resigned, Murray, you thought
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         1       this was a good time to move forward?

         2       A.   I believe he was only employed for about 10 days, or

         3       thereabouts, before he resigned, but certainly the issues

         4       of my wanting to resign go back before he came on board.

         5

         6       Q.   You've explained what they were all about.

         7       A.   Yes.  So to add, sorry, for a second, my email of this

         8       one was not timed because of the departure --

         9

        10       Q.   In any event, the thrust of it is that you would have

        11       been happy with the conversations that you're suggesting

        12       might take place and discussions that led to you being

        13       re-employed, wouldn't you?

        14       A.   If the model that they were going to move forward with

        15       was something that I put up, yes.

        16

        17       MR ALLEN:   Thank you.  Thanks very much, Mr Watson.

        18

        19       MR CONDON:   Can I ask my learned friend whether he wishes

        20       us to tender this exhibit?

        21

        22       MR ALLEN:   Yes, I ask that my friends tender that.

        23

        24       MR CONDON:   Could I say just two things about it:  first,

        25       it has some private details, in terms of contact details.

        26       Those should be edited.

        27

        28       MR ALLEN:   Yes, of course.

        29

        30       MR CONDON:   I'm fussed neither way about the identity of

        31       the person in the fourth paragraph.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll mark it as exhibit 720.  I'll make

        34       a non-publication order in relation to the name of the

        35       person in the fourth paragraph and the contact details.

        36

        37       EXHIBIT #720 COPY OF EMAIL FORWARDED BY MR WATSON TO

        38       MR LINDBERG ON 21/1/2001

        39

        40       MR CONDON:   We have not seen a copy of this document

        41       before, nor a file "Michael Watson" which appears in the

        42       top right-hand corner.  I ask my learned friend Mr Judd if

        43       he'll follow those issues up.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else wish to ask this

        46       witness any questions?  Mr Condon?

        47



            .4/4/06 (59)               5941     M F WATSON (Mr Allen)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       MR CONDON:   No.  Could he be excused, Mr Commissioner.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Thank you, Mr Watson, you're

         4       excused.

         5

         6       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

         7

         8       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

         9

        10       MR CONDON:   Mr Commissioner, the next witness is

        11       Mr Edmonds-Wilson.  I'm happy to start now, but I note

        12       there's been no break for the shorthand writers.

        13

        14       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        15

        16       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, I call Mr Nigel Charles

        17       Edmonds-Wilson.

        18

        19       <NIGEL CHARLES EDMONDS-WILSON, sworn:        [12.36pm]

        20

        21       <EXAMINATION BY MR CONDON:

        22

        23       MR CONDON:   Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, we have a statement of

        24       evidence dated 16 December 2005.  Can we have

        25       WST.0001.0043.  I want you to identify the document on the

        26       screen as your statement.

        27       A.   Can we just scroll through to the bottom page?

        28

        29       Q.   We'll start again.  Can we go to the top, please?

        30       A.   You said this was on 15 December?

        31

        32       Q.   16 December.

        33       A.   16 December - okay.  There's been a newer statement

        34       since then, but this --

        35

        36       Q.   I understand that, but subject to what you say in the

        37       newer statement, which we got in its final form this

        38       morning, are the contents of the 16 December statement true

        39       and correct?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       MR CONDON:   I tender that statement, Mr Commissioner.

        43

        44       EXHIBIT #721 STATEMENT OF NIGEL CHARLES EDMONDS-WILSON,

        45       DATED 16/12/2005, BARCODED WST.0001.0043

        46

        47       MR CONDON:   Q.   As you reminded me, Mr Edmonds-Wilson,
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         1       you prepared what you call a newer statement.  Can I have

         2       WST.0038.0143.  That's a statement of some 25 pages,

         3       Mr Edmonds-Wilson?

         4       A.   Correct.

         5

         6       Q.   Do you say the contents of that statement are true and

         7       correct?

         8       A.   I do.

         9

        10       MR CONDON:   I tender that statement, Mr Commissioner.

        11

        12       EXHIBIT #722 STATEMENT OF NIGEL CHARLES EDMONDS-WILSON

        13       BARCODED WST.0038.0143

        14

        15       MR CONDON:   Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, you say that you were

        16       transferred to sales and marketing in April of 2001?

        17       A.   Correct.

        18

        19       Q.   One of the countries that you had to deal with was

        20       Iraq; is that right?

        21       A.   Correct.

        22

        23       Q.   Who gave you information about Iraq when you came to

        24       the IS&M section?

        25       A.   I believe that would have been Dominic Hogan, the

        26       account manager at the time.

        27

        28       Q.   What did he tell you by way of background relating to

        29       Iraq?

        30       A.   I don't specifically recall the exact details that

        31       Dominic would have spoken to me about.  I do recall that

        32       there were - I did research the Iraq market to some extent

        33       myself and in my own time.  At that stage I was looking

        34       after various markets, not just Iraq - involved in, I

        35       should say.

        36

        37       Q.   What documents did you look at by way of research of

        38       the Iraq market?

        39       A.   There may have been previous market briefs or trip

        40       reports, but most of the information I think at that early

        41       stage would have been told to me by the account manager at

        42       the time.

        43

        44       Q.   And that was Mr Hogan, you say?

        45       A.   Correct.

        46

        47       Q.   Did you speak to anyone else within AWB about the Iraq
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         1       market to familiarise yourself with it?

         2       A.   Not at that stage, I don't believe.

         3

         4       Q.   When did you come to learn about inland trucking?

         5       A.   That would have been quite early in my commencement -

         6       employment with international sales and marketing, in I

         7       think April/May 2001 is when I commenced, and it would have

         8       been shortly thereafter.

         9

        10       Q.   Yes.  Who or what was the source of your information

        11       about inland trucking?

        12       A.   The source?

        13

        14       Q.   Yes.

        15       A.   That would have been the account manager at the time.

        16

        17       Q.   What did Mr Hogan tell you about inland trucking?

        18       A.   I don't specifically recall what Dominic would have

        19       mentioned to me.  However, I would believe that it would

        20       have been in relation to the AWB contracts with Iraq and

        21       that they were unusual, in that AWB was responsible for

        22       inland trucking within Iraq, to all governorates of Iraq.

        23

        24       Q.   Did Mr Hogan explain to you why it had come to pass

        25       that these contracts were unusual?

        26       A.   Well, I think he explained to me that there was an

        27       inland transport component and that nowhere else in the

        28       world had AWB contracted on that basis.

        29

        30       Q.   Did he tell you anything about sanctions?

        31       A.   I can't specifically recall.  However, I'm sure that

        32       he would have made mention of United Nations sanctions.

        33

        34       Q.   Was it your appreciation in the early days that one

        35       couldn't sell goods to Iraq or an Iraqi entity without the

        36       approval of the United Nations?

        37       A.   Correct.

        38

        39       Q.   What information, if anything, did you have in these

        40       early days about UN approval?

        41       A.   I'm not sure when the first contract would have been

        42       struck with Iraq after my commencement with IS&M.  However,

        43       as part of my duty, it was to submit Department of Foreign

        44       Affairs approvals and United Nations approvals through the

        45       appropriate channel, and that probably would have been my

        46       introduction to the United Nations approval process.

        47
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         1       Q.   What were you told about whether or not the inland

         2       trucking component had been approved by the United Nations?

         3       A.   I believe at some stage I was informed that the

         4       trucking component of the contract was United Nations

         5       approved, and I believe that that information probably

         6       would have come from Dominic at the time.

         7

         8       Q.   You say in your second statement - I can show you the

         9       passage if you want me to - that you recall seeing some

        10       letters passing between AWB and DFAT in October and

        11       November 2000.  In what circumstances do you recall those

        12       letters being shown to you?

        13       A.   You're correct.  Just for clarity, it wasn't at the

        14       time they were written, in 2000, it was at a later stage,

        15       and I can't specifically recall the circumstances I saw

        16       those letters.  However, I believe either it was something

        17       that was in the file, the international sales and marketing

        18       files, or possibly via Rex Lister, who looked after the

        19       contracts at that time.

        20

        21       Q.   Did you go to the marketing file as part of the

        22       process to familiarise yourself with the Iraqi market?

        23       A.   I can't specifically recall doing that.  However, it

        24       may have occurred.

        25

        26       Q.   How large was that file?

        27       A.   This was in the previous building that AWB was in?

        28

        29       Q.   Well, I'm asking you about the time initially when you

        30       wen to the IS&M section --

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   -- and you mentioned there was a file, an IS&M file.

        34       I'm trying to get a feel for how large that file was?

        35       A.   There were files for individual countries kept in the

        36       international sales and marketing division, whether it be

        37       for Iraq or Italy, or whoever.  There were some contract

        38       files which were in a compactus in a separate area, so

        39       overall the amount of files was not great.

        40

        41       Q.   Well, did you go to the file for Iraq to familiarise

        42       yourself with that market?

        43       A.   I can't specifically recall doing so, and quite

        44       possibly the majority of the information that I gleaned

        45       would have been through discussion with Mr Hogan.

        46

        47       Q.   Do you recall there being in the Iraq file
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         1       correspondence and emails from June to December 1999 about

         2       inland trucking?

         3       A.   Not specifically, no.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you recall seeing any emails from June to December

         6       1999 about inland trucking?

         7       A.   Not that I can recall.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, in your first

        10       statement, paragraph 5.6 - WST.0001.0046 - I'm not entirely

        11       clear there whether you're dealing with payments to Alia at

        12       an early stage or whether you're dealing with payments to

        13       Alia post OFF contracts.

        14       A.   Okay, to clarify that point, it was during the

        15       Oil-for-Food Program and some post the Oil-for-Food

        16       Program.

        17

        18       Q.   Now, we know that the amount of the trucking fee is

        19       not shown in the contracts.  You say you went to the

        20       relevant contract or other document showing the trucking

        21       fee applicable.  What other documents did you go to to

        22       determine what the trucking fee was?

        23       A.   That's something that would have probably been

        24       verbally told to me, but also in the international sales

        25       and marketing sales note it would - from memory, it would

        26       break down where possible various costs, one of those being

        27       the inland transport component.

        28

        29       Q.   Was there such a document breaking down the

        30       ingredients of costs for every contract?

        31       A.   It was common practice that for any sale there would

        32       be a sales note issued by the relevant account manager or

        33       their delegate which would have those sorts of details in.

        34

        35       Q.   Is that in the form of a telex or an email or --

        36       A.   An email.

        37

        38       Q.   An email?

        39       A.   To internal AWB people.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        42

        43       MR CONDON:   Q.   What did you understand, at least in

        44       mid-2001, the inland trucking fee component covered?

        45       A.   In mid-2001 I'd only just commenced in the division,

        46       but to me the inland transport component covered the

        47       discharging costs at the port and also the trucking
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         1       component from the port to all governorates of Iraq.

         2

         3       Q.   And did your understanding change over time?

         4       A.   I don't believe it changed over time.

         5

         6       Q.   Did you have an understanding at any stage that at

         7       least part of that money was being paid to the Iraqi

         8       government or an entity of the government, such as the

         9       ISCWT?

        10       A.   I have seen reference to this in this inquiry.

        11       However, at that stage certainly not.

        12

        13       Q.   You say you became aware of a 10 per cent component.

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   And you give some evidence as to how you became aware

        17       of it.  What was the explanation you received in relation

        18       to the 10 per cent component?

        19       A.   I believe that that was part of the inland transport

        20       component.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did not the breakdown to which

        23       you've referred distinguish between the trucking fee and

        24       the 10 per cent fee?

        25       A.   No.

        26

        27       MR CONDON:   Q.   Did anyone explain to you how the

        28       10 per cent fee had been introduced?

        29       A.   Not that I can recall.

        30

        31       Q.   Was it described separately - that is, separately from

        32       the inland transport fee?

        33       A.   I don't believe it was described separately.  However,

        34       I am aware there were some pricing spreadsheets which - not

        35       that I had a full understanding of these at the time.

        36       However, looking at them since, it had various components

        37       upon which the final CIF price was arrived at and there was

        38       a line amongst that spreadsheet which indicated a

        39       10 per cent fee, which was, I believe, part of the inland

        40       transport.

        41

        42       Q.   When you got explanations from people, who are you

        43       speaking of?  Was it just Mr Hogan, or was there anyone

        44       else within AWB?

        45       A.   If I requested some information from anybody, it would

        46       have been the applicable account manager at any particular

        47       time, and in this case it would have been Mr Hogan.
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         1

         2       Q.   And after Mr Hogan's departure?

         3       A.   Chris Whitwell looked after the Iraq market.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Condon, do we have the spreadsheets

         6       to which the witness refers?

         7

         8       MR CONDON:   We're searching for those, Mr Commissioner.  I

         9       can't say I have one in my brief at this stage.

        10

        11       Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, I want to show you a few documents.

        12       Please feel free to take your time to read them as they are

        13       displayed on the screen.  The first one is AWB.0001.0310.

        14       It's an email from Alia to you.

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   You'll see, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, that according to this

        18       email the vessel that's nominated sailed on 22 April 2001

        19       and Alia complained that they had not received until now

        20       the inland transport charges in relation to that particular

        21       vessel.

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       MR CONDON:   I tender that document as an exhibit, subject

        25       to any editing that my learned friend Mr Judd wishes to

        26       perform on it.

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   The ship name, I think --

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll mark it as exhibit 723 and make a

        31       non-publication order in relation to the ship name.

        32

        33       EXHIBIT #723 EMAIL FROM ALIA TO MR EDMONDS-WILSON,

        34       BARCODED AWB.0001.0310

        35

        36       MR CONDON:   Q.  You had received earlier,

        37       Mr Edmonds-Wilson, a fax from Alia.  Could we have

        38       AWB.0006.0040.  You understand, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, that I'm

        39       trying not to disclose the names of the vessels publicly

        40       because of commercial considerations.

        41       A.   Yes, I understand.

        42

        43       Q.   You'll see it's dated 23 April, which, if you cast

        44       back to the previous email, was the day after the sailing

        45       of the vessel?

        46       A.   Okay.

        47
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         1       Q.   Can I ask you to read the document, please.

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   At the time you received this facsimile, why did you

         5       think that the port authorities, which I assume are Iraqi

         6       port authorities, would threatened to delay the berthing

         7       and discharging unless the inland transport charges were

         8       not paid?

         9       A.   At that time I don't believe I would have given it any

        10       considerable thought.  It appears as though that's a fax

        11       that I have received very early on in my employment in the

        12       international sales and marketing division and it would be

        13       common for me to refer any particular questions or emails

        14       or faxes that I had received to - in this case it would

        15       have been Dominic, I believe.

        16

        17       Q.   I want to take you to the next sentence:

        18

        19            Also we would like to inform you that the

        20            vessel --

        21

        22       and it's named --

        23

        24            has left the Port under our responsibility

        25            to pay its amounts.

        26

        27       Of course, the subject matter of this facsimile is inland

        28       transportation charges.

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Indeed, on the previous document I showed you the

        32       complaint was that the inland transportation charges had

        33       not been paid.  What explanation did you form as to why

        34       Alia would be complaining that the vessel had left port

        35       under its responsibility to pay the amounts of inland

        36       transportation charges?

        37       A.   At that time I don't believe that I would have given

        38       it any thought.  It would have been something that I

        39       referred.

        40

        41       Q.   Could I suggest to you that, as you sit there now in

        42       the witness box, what Alia's complaint is is that it has

        43       assumed responsibility to pay the inland transportation

        44       charges.

        45       A.   I understand what you're saying, that Alia would have

        46       to take it on their head, that they hadn't possibly

        47       received inland transportation charges from AWB and that
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         1       there would be a gap between the services provided and

         2       payment received.

         3

         4       Q.   Well, the complaint, can I suggest to you, is a

         5       responsibility on its part to pay the amounts.  Do you see

         6       what the letter is saying there?

         7       A.   To me that is to pay the amounts for trucking.

         8

         9       Q.   Yes.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why would a trucking company have

        12       to pay amounts for trucking?

        13       A.   Possibly - if the company was subcontracting to other

        14       trucking providers, which in subsequent emails it probably

        15       would have occurred to me that it was likely that Alia were

        16       subcontracting to other providers - possibly.

        17

        18       MR CONDON:   Q.   Did that view cross your mind at the

        19       time - that is, 23 April - or did you speak to Mr Hogan or

        20       speak to someone else?

        21       A.   At April 23 I don't believe that would have crossed my

        22       mind, no.

        23

        24       Q.   How were these facsimiles received?  Were they sent to

        25       you directly from the machine, so to speak, or would they

        26       have gone to you through another officer within AWB?

        27       A.   Can we just scroll up to maybe the fax number?  Okay.

        28       There's no fax number to AWB, but I would assume that Alia

        29       correspondence was to the international sales and marketing

        30       facsimile number.  Later on most of Alia's correspondence I

        31       believe would have been on email.

        32

        33       Q.   My question was did it come to you directly or would

        34       it have passed through another office within AWB?

        35       A.   Considering it's got "Mr Nigel" - made to attention

        36       "Mr Nigel" I would consider it probably came direct to me,

        37       but somebody would have picked it off of the fax and

        38       probably placed it on my desk or in my intray possibly.

        39

        40       Q.   After you had dealt with it, would it have gone into a

        41       general Iraq file?

        42       A.   Sorry?

        43

        44       Q.   After you had dealt with the facsimile, would it be

        45       filed in the file relating to Iraq?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       MR CONDON:   Mr Commissioner, I tender the facsimile.  I

         2       seek a non-publication order in relation to the names of

         3       the vessels which appear in the second-last line and are

         4       listed 1 through to 5.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, it will be exhibit 724.  I make

         7       that order.

         8

         9       EXHIBIT #724 FACSIMILE FROM ALIA TO ATTENTION "MR NIGEL",

        10       BARCODED AWB.0006.0040

        11

        12       MR CONDON:   Is that a convenient time, Mr Commissioner?

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   Before you rise, Mr Commissioner, it may be of

        17       assistance to be informed that the spreadsheets that you

        18       inquired of were apparently provided with

        19       Mr Edmonds-Wilson's first statement, that is, the December

        20       statement.  They were, as I recall, attachments that were

        21       provided together with it.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  I'll adjourn until

        24       2 o'clock.

        25

        26       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        27

        28

        29

        30

        31

        32

        33

        34

        35

        36

        37

        38

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR CONDON:   I thank Mr Judd for his advice before lunch.

         4       Can we bring up, please, AWB.0188.0021.

         5

         6       Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, you told the Commissioner that

         7       sheets were prepared for each contract breaking up various

         8       elements, including the inland transportation component?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   I will provide you with a hard copy of this document.

        12       You have had a chance to look at that document.  Was that

        13       the document you were talking about, or were there

        14       individual documents for each contract?

        15       A.   That was one of the documents.  However, there was a

        16       sales note specific for each contract.

        17

        18       Q.   And did that sales note break up the components, as

        19       you see in this document - that is, identifying inland

        20       freight, sea freight and other items?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   This appears to be a compilation of those documents.

        24       Is that your understanding of this document, or does it

        25       bear some other character?

        26       A.   This particular document I would refer to as my budget

        27       spreadsheet.  So it is something that I could draft up upon

        28       a particular contract being struck with the Grain Board,

        29       and then, throughout the period of the contract, I could

        30       track actual costs against individual vessels and also

        31       against individual contracts.  You may see some duplication

        32       of various contracts throughout the hard copy that I have

        33       been provided with.  On occasion I would provide this sort

        34       of information to certain people within AWB, and it may

        35       have been for a particular year or a marketing year, or for

        36       various periods.  Therefore that's why you will see some

        37       duplication of various contracts.

        38

        39       Q.   But to whom would you give these sorts of documents,

        40       apart from Mr Hogan and members of the IS&M team?

        41       A.   The account manager would be the main recipient of

        42       this sort of information, because it allowed them to

        43       accurately answer questions that they may have received

        44       through other areas of AWB.

        45

        46       Q.   You will see on the first page for contract A0267, the

        47       inland transport component is said to be $14 per metric
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         1       tonne.

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   If you turn over the page, for the next contract,

         5       A0430, do you see the inland transport component is $44.50

         6       per metric tonne?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   Did you ask why there had been so large an increase

        10       between those two contracts?

        11       A.   I don't believe I did ask.  Certainly when I commenced

        12       in my position with IS&M, the first contract that I was

        13       involved in was the one over the page there, inland

        14       transport showing $44.50.  The earlier contracts I would -

        15       I was aware that there was a $14 inland transport fee, but

        16       they were all contracts which had been signed prior to me

        17       beginning that position, and it was sort of a historical

        18       document, I guess, and not something that I believed I had

        19       asked the question of.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I had thought that you had

        22       established this system, but the system existed before you

        23       arrived, did it - the spreadsheet system?

        24       A.   I don't believe it did exist before I arrived.  There

        25       may have been certain spreadsheets, or formats of

        26       spreadsheets, but I have certainly refined those over my

        27       time with the division.

        28

        29       Q.   If you go to the fourth page, it appears to address

        30       contracts before you arrived in the same format as it

        31       addresses those after you arrived?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you recreate the information in respect of prior

        35       contracts prior to your arrival?

        36       A.   I cannot specifically recall on this - in this

        37       circumstance, but certainly on other spreadsheets I did

        38       gather historical information to plug into the spreadsheet.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   These documents are dated or printed on

        41       11 January 2006.  I assume they are the same as the ones

        42       that were provided in December, Mr Judd; do you know?

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   Calling on my recollection, they appear to be

        45       documents of the same kind.  It is a document of this kind

        46       that I had in mind.

        47
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         1       THE WITNESS:   I believe on occasion - I still keep track

         2       of contracts in this way, with current contracts.  They

         3       were in the same folder, just on different worksheets, so

         4       potentially that date may refer to when I have recently

         5       gone in there to change a later contract, or something like

         6       that.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall mark these as a confidential

         9       exhibit.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #324C SPREADSHEETS PREPARED BY MR EDMONDS-WILSON

        12

        13       MR CONDON:   Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, can I take you to

        14       exhibit 183 - AWB.0141.0420.  You will see it is an email

        15       from Mr Hogan to "Market Info", and then copied to

        16       Mr Johnson and you.  Do you know what the term "Market

        17       Info" included, in terms of the recipients?

        18       A.   Not specifically.  However, a "Market Info" email

        19       address such as that may have been set up by the sender of

        20       a document.  I'm not sure that it was a systems- or

        21       company-generated list of people, but I would imagine the

        22       market info list would have included various people on the

        23       floor that we were on, which would have included

        24       international sales and marketing staff and possibly the

        25       pool.

        26

        27       Q.   You will see the subject matter of the email is

        28       "Iraq - Outcomes".  Mr Hogan says, "Please note following

        29       outcomes from discussions in Iraq".  If you go over the

        30       page, to 0421, there is an entry for crane hire.

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   We see:

        34

        35            Should not be paid by AWB - covered under

        36            in-land transport costs.

        37

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   What was your understanding about crane hire?

        41       A.   I'm not sure that this was my understanding on that

        42       date, in May 2001, having been fresh into the position.

        43       However, crane hire, I believe, was a service provided by

        44       Alia, inland transport provider, which assisted in the

        45       discharge process at Umm Qasr, and assisted speeding up,

        46       where possible, that discharging process.

        47
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         1       Q.   Underneath that entry is "Meeting with Min", and

         2       I understand that to be "minister".  Halfway down that

         3       entry we have:

         4

         5            Big issue is "after sales service".

         6

         7       Did you speak to Mr Hogan, who is the author of this email,

         8       or anyone else, about the so-called big issue, aftersales

         9       service?

        10       A.   I don't believe so.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you seek to understand what he was getting at,

        13       after you got this email?

        14       A.   I don't believe I asked Mr Hogan any questions in

        15       relation to this email.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you ask anyone, in the weeks and months that

        18       followed, what aftersales service was all about?

        19       A.   No.  Can I just go back to my previous answer?

        20       I probably did speak to Dominic about - particularly about

        21       the crane hire there, because I believe that's my

        22       handwriting on the right-hand side, so I would have spoken

        23       to Dominic about some aspects of the email, but I don't

        24       believe I spoke to Dominic about the big issue there of

        25       aftersales service.

        26

        27       Q.   The next document in my chronology is AWB.0071.0347.

        28       By all means read the document, but you will observe it

        29       appears to be a telex from the Grain Board to AWB Limited,

        30       and it refers to a number of vessels.  Is this the sort of

        31       telex that would have come across your desk in the ordinary

        32       course?

        33       A.   It is possible, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Well, was it your responsibility to address these

        36       sorts of emails or telexes?

        37       A.   In consultation with the account manager, yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Do you have a recollection of seeing this particular

        40       telex?

        41       A.   Not this particular telex.  However, it appears to be

        42       similar to a number of telexes that I have seen, or faxes

        43       or emails that I have seen.

        44

        45       Q.   And you will see that the Grain Board says this:

        46

        47            Pls contact "Alia Transport Co" to transfer
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         1            total amount of inland transport charges of

         2            cargos of vessels mentioned in a.m. email

         3            to Iraqi State Co. for Water Transport

         4            inorder to commence discharging.

         5

         6       Did you understand from either this telex, if you saw it,

         7       or the other ones you saw, that the IGB requested the

         8       inland transport charges to be paid to the Iraqi State

         9       Company for Water Transport, ultimately?

        10       A.   I do understand that now.  At the time I'm not sure

        11       that I would have understood that.  However, had I turned

        12       my mind to it, it is possible that I would have come to the

        13       conclusion that IGB were very anxious to understand, or to

        14       hear when AWB remitted certain inland transport fees to

        15       Alia, because it was, I believe, a particular issue of

        16       importance to the Iraqi regime of food security for the

        17       people of Iraq.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  That telex addresses a different

        20       topic.  It is talking about transferring not part but

        21       apparently the whole of inland transport charges from Alia

        22       to an Iraqi State Company for Water Transport?

        23       A.   I don't believe I would have turned my mind to that at

        24       the time.

        25

        26       Q.   I don't see how you could read it any other way.

        27       A.   It has always been my understanding that the inland

        28       transport fees were payable to Alia and not to the ISCWT or

        29       to any other party, and I don't believe that throughout the

        30       time that I have been in my position, that anybody has

        31       requested any payments to ISCWT, or any payments have been

        32       made to ISCWT or to IGB.

        33

        34       Q.   No, no, but this telex is not suggesting the money

        35       shouldn't go to Alia; it is saying "Direct Alia to transfer

        36       it to the water transport company", is it not?

        37       A.   Yes, I agree.

        38

        39       MR CONDON:   Q.   Well, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, if that is what

        40       the telex says, why did you not form the view in May of

        41       2001, which is the date of the telex, that that in fact was

        42       the case.

        43

        44       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, I object.  Mr Edmonds-Wilson

        45       has not accepted that he actually read this telex.  He said

        46       he read ones similar to this later on in his tenure.

        47
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         1       MR CONDON:   I withdraw the question and will frame it more

         2       carefully.

         3

         4       Q.   When you received telexes of this kind, why did you

         5       not form the view then that the money was being paid over

         6       from Alia to the ISCWT, as this telex, for example, clearly

         7       contemplates?

         8       A.   I don't believe I would have contemplated that at the

         9       time and, if I had, it is, I guess, possible that Alia were

        10       subcontracting trucking to a third party, and, in this

        11       case, possibly ISCWT.

        12

        13       Q.   So are you saying to the Commissioner that you formed

        14       a view that the ISCWT was possibly performing a

        15       subcontracting role trucking wheat from Umm Qasr to inland

        16       governorates?

        17

        18       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, I object again.  The evidence

        19       of Mr Edmonds-Wilson was that he didn't believe that he

        20       would have contemplated that at the time and, if he had,

        21       perhaps it is possible that Alia might have been

        22       subcontracting.  My learned friend then goes on to lock in

        23       that speculation as absolute belief.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, he is not.  He is asking him if

        26       that is what he is telling him.  He can say yes or no.

        27

        28       MR FORREST:  What he said was, "So are you saying to the

        29       Commissioner that you formed a view that the ISCWT was

        30       possibly performing a subcontracting role."

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        33

        34       MR FORREST:   In my submission, that is locking in in

        35       effect an absolute opinion based upon a speculative answer

        36       in the question before.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  No, I will allow the question.

        39

        40       MR CONDON:   Q.   Do you want to hear the question again?

        41       A.   Yes, please.

        42

        43       Q.   So are you saying to the Commissioner that you formed

        44       a view that the ISCWT was possibly performing a

        45       subcontracting role trucking wheat from Umm Qasr to inland

        46       governorates?

        47       A.   At 27 May 2001 I can't say that I had formed that
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         1       view, but over subsequent correspondence I believe

         2       I probably would have.

         3

         4       Q.   And what made you form the view that the Iraqi State

         5       Company for Water Transport also performed inland trucking

         6       services?

         7       A.   I guess at that time - not at that time, but I guess

         8       over the period I formed that view.  It seemed quite likely

         9       to me that Alia would be subcontracting trucking services

        10       to another provider.  Each and every vessel was maybe

        11       40,000 to 50,000 tonnes and the size of the trucks in Iraq,

        12       I believe, were only 20 tonnes to 30 tonnes each, so a

        13       significant number of trucks would be required.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you know if the Iraqi State Company for Water

        16       Transport had trucks or not?

        17       A.   I didn't know that.

        18

        19       Q.   Did you speak to anyone who had been to Iraq as to

        20       whether or not the Iraqi State Company for Water Transport

        21       had trucks or not?

        22       A.   I don't specifically recall speaking to anybody in

        23       that regard.

        24

        25       Q.   At some stage you have told us through your written

        26       statement that you became aware of the sanctions regime and

        27       in fact you did your own research about it?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Didn't it strike you, when you read telexes of this

        31       kind, that what might be happening was a breach of the

        32       sanctions?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   Are you saying to the Commissioner that that never

        36       entered your mind at all?

        37       A.   At that stage, no, it didn't.

        38

        39       Q.   Well, you say "at that stage".  Did it enter your mind

        40       at any stage --

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   -- that it might constitute a breach of sanctions?

        44       A.   Well, no, because I formed the view that all

        45       components of the AWB contracts with Iraq were UN approved,

        46       as per my earlier answer, and, in addition, it is I guess

        47       something that was in train when I commenced employment
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         1       with IS&M and I had no reason to question my bosses or

         2       senior management - a process that was already in place.

         3

         4       Q.   What did you understand the UN had approved in

         5       relation to inland trucking?

         6       A.   I believe that, certainly since I've been involved,

         7       all AWB contracts were submitted with the wording "free in

         8       truck all governorates Iraq".  To me that is quite clear

         9       that there would be a process of logistics involved within

        10       the country.

        11

        12       MR CONDON:   I tender that telex, Mr Commissioner, dated

        13       27 May 2001 - AWB.0071.0347.  I would ask for a

        14       non-publication order in relation to the ships which are

        15       named in the telex.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #725 TELEX DATED 27/5/2001, BARCODED AWB.0071.0347

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:  I make that order.

        20

        21       MR CONDON:   Q.   Could I have, please, AWB.0091.0112.  You

        22       will see, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, that this is an email from

        23       Mr Wall of 4 June 2001 addressed to Mr Lees and copied to

        24       you?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Who was Mr Wall?

        28       A.   Peter Wall worked in AWB's chartering division.

        29

        30       Q.   And what position did he hold within that division?

        31       A.   He was in the operations area.

        32

        33       Q.   Can I direct your attention about two-thirds of the

        34       way down the page to the paragraph which begins "Alia Amman

        35       informed us", and I ask you to read that particular

        36       paragraph.

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   If the inland transport fees were being paid to Alia,

        40       why did you think at the time that the ISCWT and the port

        41       authorities would not allow the vessels into harbour until

        42       payment had been received?

        43       A.   I think that - well, ISCWT were acting as agents for

        44       the IGB, and it was of utmost importance to the IGB,

        45       I believe, that inland transport fees had been remitted

        46       from AWB to Alia and therefore Alia could perform their job

        47       as trucking provider to all governorates Iraq without any
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         1       hiccups or delays that may have been caused had AWB not

         2       remitted transport payments to Alia.  In addition, I guess

         3       Iraq was unique and different throughout this program - the

         4       fact that it was ruled by a dictator that - he had

         5       interests - I would imagine he would have wanted to know

         6       what was happening throughout his country.  Therefore, a

         7       request from, say, ISCWT, which was acting on behalf of

         8       IGB, would seem quite possible or likely.

         9

        10       Q.   With great respect, this email contemplates the ISCWT

        11       and the port authorities prohibiting the vessels from

        12       entry.

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   What interest did you think at the time that ISCWT had

        16       which would justify it from taking so severe a step?

        17       A.   I don't specifically recall thinking anything about it

        18       at the time, other than what I have already said.  They

        19       were acting on behalf of the IGB and taking instructions,

        20       I would imagine, from IGB.  So their interest was to ensure

        21       that AWB had performed contractually and remitted inland

        22       transport fees to the trucking provider, Alia.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But none of these cables or

        25       telexes are from Alia saying "We can't perform our trucking

        26       services", or "We can't sublet our trucking services

        27       because we haven't received the money".  They all appear to

        28       be emails or telexes saying, "Pay the money to somebody

        29       else".

        30       A.   All I can answer to that, Mr Commissioner, is that

        31       I don't believe that I gave it that sort of thought at that

        32       time, and at no stage, as I have said, am I aware that AWB

        33       has ever entertained remitting fees direct to ISCWT.

        34

        35       MR CONDON:   Q.   Is it your evidence that, in essence,

        36       ISCWT was simply looking after the interests of Alia?

        37       A.   No, of the IGB.

        38

        39       Q.   Is it your evidence that the IGB or the ISCWT, when

        40       writing these sorts of communications, were in essence

        41       trying to look after the interests of Alia?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   What did you think at the time motivated the ISCWT and

        45       the IGB to make threats of this kind?

        46       A.   I believe it was for the food security issue within

        47       Iraq, and that IGB and ISCWT could send out those sorts of
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         1       requests.

         2

         3       Q.   Well, if food security was an issue, would not the

         4       Iraqis be welcoming the vessels rather than threatening to

         5       shut them out from the harbours?

         6       A.   I can see that.  However, in the event that transport

         7       or trucking fees had not been paid, then the wheat would

         8       not be delivered to the governorates.

         9

        10       Q.   You see, it may be suggested, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, that

        11       this telex evidences a financial interest on the part of

        12       the ISCWT to ensure that Alia was paid its money by AWB.

        13       I want to ask you, as at June 2001, the date of this email,

        14       which was copied to you, did you hold that view?

        15       A.   Sorry, which view?

        16

        17       Q.   June 2001?

        18       A.   Could you just repeat the question?

        19

        20       Q.   You see, it may be suggested to you,

        21       Mr Edmonds-Wilson, that this telex evidences a financial

        22       interest on the part of the ISCWT - or the IGB - to ensure

        23       that Alia was paid its money by AWB.  I want to ask you, as

        24       at June 2001, the date of this email, which was copied to

        25       you, did you hold that view?

        26       A.   I don't believe that I would have turned my mind to it

        27       at that time.

        28

        29       MR CONDON:   Mr Commissioner, I tender the document and

        30       I seek a non-publication order in relation to the names of

        31       the vessels therein listed.

        32

        33       EXHIBIT #726 EMAIL FROM PETER WALL TO TODD LEES

        34       DATED 4/6/2001, BARCODED AWB.0091.0112

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make that order.

        37

        38       MR CONDON:   Q.   On the same day you received another

        39       email from Mr Wall.  Can we have, please, AWB.0144.0439?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   Do you understand what the "serious pressure" was

        43       which is referred to in the second sentence of that telex?

        44       A.   I would guess that the "serious pressure" would be

        45       that the vessel would not be allowed to berth.

        46

        47       MR CONDON:   I tender that email, Mr Commissioner.  Again,
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         1       I seek a non-publication order in relation to the name of

         2       the vessel.

         3

         4       EXHIBIT #727 EMAIL FROM PETER WALL TO TODD LEES

         5       DATED 4/6/2001, BARCODED AWB.0144.0439

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make that order.

         8

         9       MR CONDON:   Q.   Can we have, please, confidential exhibit

        10       118C, AWB.0144.0365.  Do you see it is a facsimile from

        11       Alia "Attention Mr Nigel".  Was that a reference to you?

        12       A.   I believe so, yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Please read the telex to yourself.

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   What do you understand was the interest in the ISCWT

        18       inquiring of Alia about cargo loaded on the vessel referred

        19       to?  Put another way, at the time, why do you think ISCWT

        20       was making the inquiry?

        21       A.   Again, to ensure that AWB had fulfilled their

        22       contractual obligations with inland transport, and that AWB

        23       had remitted those funds to Alia.

        24

        25       Q.   You see, in relation to the amount of the difference,

        26       we're talking about comparatively small sums of money, are

        27       we not?

        28       A.   If we can just focus on the second half of that box,

        29       because it appears that the first portion was something

        30       that had been remitted prior to me commencing with

        31       international sales and marketing, and I believe it is my

        32       writing under Vitali in the first box there, in brackets

        33       "chartering", and that would be a reference to, I believe,

        34       the fact that chartering had or were looking after inland

        35       transport payments for that particular vessel, for that

        36       particular contract, of which there were obviously two

        37       contracts loaded aboard this vessel, and the international

        38       sales and marketing were looking after the subsequent

        39       portion, so the 18,136 tonnes, and there is some

        40       handwriting there, which I believe would be my writing,

        41       calculating the amount of inland transport applicable.  As

        42       I have previously said, any differences would be in

        43       reference to the bill of lading tonnage compared with the

        44       Cotechna shore weight tonnage, which was often less than

        45       the loaded or bill of lading tonnage.

        46

        47       Q.   I understand all of that, but this is a telex, or a
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         1       facsimile, concerning a ship that has docked and left

         2       already; is that correct?

         3       A.   I believe so, yes.

         4

         5       Q.   And at the time - that is, in mid June 2001 - why did

         6       you think that the ISCWT was making an inquiry of the kind

         7       referred to?

         8       A.   I don't believe that I would have turned my mind to it

         9       at the time.  However, if I had, it is possible that the

        10       ISCWT were keeping a record of what they believed should

        11       have been remitted for any particular vessel, and should

        12       they hear or see that there were discrepancies from what

        13       AWB paid to Alia, then effectively they are following that

        14       up.

        15

        16       Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, we have seen now a number of

        17       telexes, and no doubt there are more, where inquiries have

        18       been made by the ISCWT?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Can I suggest to you that at the time - that is,

        22       mid-2001 - you may have formed the view that this wasn't

        23       simply idle curiosity on the part of the ISCWT?

        24       A.   As at that time I don't believe that I would have

        25       formed that view.  The process was in train, the contracts

        26       were submitted via DFAT to the United Nations.  I had no

        27       reason, I don't believe, to doubt that process that was in

        28       place.

        29

        30       Q.   And why do you think the ISCWT could apparently

        31       suggest delay occurring in the future, as the last

        32       paragraph of this telex contemplates, in relation to a

        33       vessel that had already unloaded and left port?

        34       A.   I assume that they were referring to subsequent

        35       shipment, but I don't believe that I would have given it

        36       that thought at that time.

        37

        38       Q.   Can I next go, please, to exhibit 192, being

        39       Mr Hogan's email --

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is this document an exhibit?

        42

        43       MR CONDON:   It is a confidential exhibit, Mr Commissioner.

        44       It is exhibit 118C.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        47
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         1       MR CONDON:   Q.   The next document is exhibit 192 -

         2       AWB.5038.0160.  I think this is a document referred to in

         3       your statement, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, but take your time to

         4       read it to yourself.

         5       A.   Yes, I'm familiar with that email.

         6

         7       Q.   You will see about halfway down the page there is a

         8       sentence:

         9

        10            Transport fees set at certain level due to

        11            using 50% / 50% Iraqi and Jordanian trucks.

        12

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   At the time - that is, late August 2001 - who do think

        16       was supplying the Iraqi trucks?

        17       A.   I don't specifically recall reading this email, or

        18       that section of this email, but, had I turned my mind to

        19       it, I guess I would have assumed that Alia were

        20       subcontracting trucking services to a provider in Iraq.

        21

        22       Q.   Do you recall reading the balance of the document?

        23       A.   I'm not sure that I had read the balance of the

        24       document at that time.  I certainly have seen this document

        25       in the preparation for this inquiry, but at that time it -

        26       I'm unaware whether I read it at the time or gave it any

        27       thought at the time, or anything.

        28

        29       Q.   Can I take you through to 30 October 2001 -

        30       AWB.5062.0175-R.  If we stay at the top for the moment, we

        31       will see that this is an email from Ms Gatto to Mr Hogan,

        32       copied to a number of people, including yourself.

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Then, if we scroll down the page, what Ms Gatto has

        36       received is a communication from some brokers, Austral

        37       Chartering; do you see that?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Then a little bit lower down there is some block

        41       capitals:

        42

        43            KEEP RECEIVING ODD REQUESTS...FLWG RCVD FM

        44            OWRS.

        45            QTE.

        46

        47       Could I ask you to just read paragraph 1.
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   And by all means go over the page - 0176-R?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   If we go back to the previous page, the

         7       paragraph numbered 1, can I suggest to you it is plain from

         8       that paragraph that there had been a demand made by an

         9       Iraqi entity to pay the inland transport charge and a

        10       10 per cent commission to ISCWT?

        11       A.   I see that now, yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Do you recall reading that document as at late October

        14       2001?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   It is typical, though, is it, of the sorts of

        18       documents you say you received dealing with these sorts of

        19       issues?

        20       A.   It is of that format, yes.  Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   I want to suggest to you again that if you read this

        23       document it permits of only one explanation - that is, the

        24       inland transportation charge and the 10 per cent commission

        25       is going to be paid to the ISCWT?

        26       A.   It was my understanding that the 10 per cent charge

        27       was part of the inland transport fee, and it was not ever

        28       to be paid to ISCWT.  This - sorry.

        29

        30       Q.   Well, at the time - that is, late October 2001 - was

        31       it your view that what was being there asserted was simply

        32       wrong?

        33       A.   I can't say that I formed a view.  I can't say that

        34       I would have read this email in depth, particularly

        35       considering it was sent to my boss at the time.  Had I read

        36       it, it may have - inland transport, 10 per cent, it would

        37       have been - to me that's inland transport, and it was not

        38       my understanding that AWB remitted funds to ISCWT; it was

        39       to Alia.

        40

        41       Q.   No, but what the telex contemplates is that the

        42       ultimate recipient of the money is the ISCWT?

        43       A.   I accept that that's what the email is showing.

        44       However, at that time I don't believe that I would have

        45       seen that, or given it that thought.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, what other explanation for that paragraph is



            .4/4/06 (59)               5965     N C EDMONDS-WILSON (Mr Condon)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       there?

         2       A.   Well, at that time - I can't even say that I read it,

         3       so I can't say that I did form an opinion of it at that

         4       time.  As I have said, if I did read it, and if I did form

         5       an opinion of it, then, you know, it is a transport payment

         6       to Alia, in my mind, and that's something that was already

         7       set up and United Nations approved.

         8

         9       Q.   The email went from Ms Gatto to a large number of

        10       recipients, if we scroll up to the top of the page.

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Indeed, Ms Gatto asked Mr Hogan for advice.  Do you

        14       recall Mr Hogan coming to see you to discuss this - I am

        15       not suggesting that he did, I just want to know what your

        16       recollection is.

        17       A.   I don't recollect that Dominic did discuss it with me,

        18       however, that's not to say he didn't.  It is quite - we

        19       were sitting in an open-plan environment, and Dominic sat

        20       immediately to my - next to my desk.  He may have commented

        21       on it to me, but I don't recollect.

        22

        23       Q.   Do you recall there being discussions at the time

        24       about this particular communication?

        25       A.   No.

        26

        27       Q.   Can you help me out with the identity of the

        28       recipients and the offices they held.  Michael Raftopoulos,

        29       what office did he hold?

        30       A.   Michael Raftopoulos was part of chartering.

        31

        32       Q.   And what position within chartering did he hold?

        33       A.   He would have been a freight trader at that stage, so

        34       providing - chartering vessels on the pool's behalf.

        35

        36       Q.   I apologise in advance, but is it Ms Welmillage?

        37       A.   That is Mr Rohitha.

        38

        39       Q.   I'm sorry.  I renew my apology.

        40       A.   Predominantly all of those names bar myself and

        41       Todd Lees were in the chartering division, I believe, and

        42       held various positions within chartering, from Peter Jones,

        43       the general manager at the time; Rohitha I believe looked

        44       after container freight; Peter Wall operations; Jack Fahy,

        45       he was I think in the operations area of chartering;

        46       Anthony, again, in the freight trading role; and Kathy

        47       Ellis I believe was the accountant for the chartering
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         1       division.

         2

         3       MR CONDON:   Mr Commissioner, I omitted to mention that

         4       this has already been tendered as exhibit 405.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         7

         8       MR CONDON:   Q.   I am trying to follow a chronological

         9       sequence, Mr Edmonds-Wilson.

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Can I take you to exhibit 92 - AWB.0143.0513.

        13       I ask you to look at the handwriting which appears

        14       two-thirds of the way down the page.  Is that your

        15       handwriting?

        16       A.   I will just wait for this document.  That is my

        17       handwriting, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Was that a statement or a question you were recording

        20       there?

        21       A.   I don't specifically recall.  However, I believe it

        22       would have been a statement that I had discussed that

        23       question with Dominic Hogan at the time, and he probably

        24       informed me of that and I probably went back to Sandra

        25       saying exactly that.

        26

        27       Q.   Well, is it your recollection - I don't want you to

        28       speculate; I want your recollection - that this information

        29       came from Mr Hogan?

        30       A.   It is my recollection, yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Am I right in thinking that through your note you are

        33       suggesting that the 50 cents per tonne is incorporated into

        34       the inland transport fee?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Am I correct in thinking that at the time you

        38       characterised this as a fee payable to the ISCWT?

        39       A.   It appears so, yes.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, that email

        42       seems to draw a distinction between three separate types of

        43       payment - one is inland transport charges; 2 is ASS, which

        44       is aftersales service charges; and the third is agency fees

        45       on cargo of 50 cents per tonne.  Did you draw that

        46       distinction between inland transport charges and aftersales

        47       service fees?
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         1       A.   No.  It appears that I have discussed it and the

         2       answer is that it was an inland transport charge and not

         3       broken down.

         4

         5       MR CONDON:   Q.   And was the sole source of that

         6       information Mr Hogan?

         7       A.   I believe so, yes.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I don't understand how anyone

        10       could read it that way, because it says:

        11

        12            ...informed them that the inland transport

        13            charges as well as the A.S.S charges...

        14

        15       I don't understand how you would read that as in total

        16       meaning inland transport charges.

        17       A.   I understand what you are saying, Mr Commissioner, but

        18       it was - you know, I was of the view that the inland

        19       transport fee payable to Alia was the figure - the one and

        20       only figure.

        21

        22       MR CONDON:   Q.   Did you have an explanation as to why the

        23       author of this document would break them up into three

        24       apparently separate components?

        25       A.   No.

        26

        27       Q.   Ms Gatto's email is sent to a number of people again.

        28       Do you recall speaking to any of them about the contents of

        29       this document?

        30       A.   Can we just scroll up, please.  Other than Dominic,

        31       no.

        32

        33       MR CONDON:   Mr Commissioner, I note that that is a public

        34       exhibit, number 92.  There is a reference to a vessel's

        35       name.  Perhaps there should be a non-publication order in

        36       relation to the name of the vessel.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  I make that order.

        39

        40       MR CONDON:   Q.   Can we have next, please, exhibit 392 -

        41       AWB.0094.0012-R.

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   Have you read that document, Mr Edmonds-Wilson?

        45       A.   What's on the screen, yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Does this confirm your view at the time - that is,
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         1       early 2002 - that the ISCWT fees were incorporated into the

         2       inland transportation fees?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   You have said on more than one occasion that you were

         6       not aware that AWB had ever entertained remitting fees

         7       directly to ISCWT.  Are we to understand, in light of this

         8       document and the evidence you have given, that it was your

         9       understanding that Alia, having received moneys from AWB,

        10       would then pass them on to the ISCWT?

        11       A.   I don't believe that I would have turned my mind to

        12       that at the time, but Alia was certainly recipient of our

        13       fees, and it does show that there was a fee that Alia would

        14       then remit to ISCWT.

        15

        16       Q.   Can I suggest it is as plain as a pikestaff that these

        17       emails suggest that Alia is forwarding on to ISCWT some

        18       moneys, at least the 50 cents per metric tonne?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   And did you think there had been UN approval for that

        22       particular payment?

        23       A.   I believed the entire payment was UN approved, so it

        24       had no - there was no difference between that and the

        25       inland transport component.

        26

        27       Q.   It was part of your duties to forward the contracts

        28       through to DFAT; is that right?

        29       A.   On occasion, yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Amongst any of the documents you saw passing to and

        32       from DFAT, was there any suggestion or any disclosure of

        33       the fact that 50 cents per metric tonne was being paid to

        34       ISCWT on account of its fees?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   Was this a matter which was discussed by you with

        38       other people within AWB?

        39       A.   I don't believe so.

        40

        41       Q.   I want to move on to something slightly different,

        42       Mr Edmonds-Wilson, but can I put this proposition to you

        43       for your comment:  having now shown you a number of emails

        44       and cables where there are demands from ISCWT conveyed in

        45       various ways and statements to the effect that money was to

        46       be paid to the ISCWT, it is open to conclude that anyone

        47       looking at these documents at the time must have formed the
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         1       view that some of the moneys being paid by AWB were being

         2       forwarded to the Iraqi Government or an entity thereof?

         3       A.   I would have to concede that now, yes.  However, at

         4       the time I don't believe that I would have formed that

         5       view.  I was acting under the instructions of my boss at

         6       the time, and was not in a - it was not common for me to

         7       question instruction or anything that I had received from

         8       one of my bosses.

         9

        10       Q.   I mean, the documents I have put to you this afternoon

        11       are pretty clear in making the suggestion I have just

        12       referred to, aren't they?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   I think in your evidence and your witness statement

        16       you say you spent ultimately, at least, about 80 per cent

        17       of your time on Iraq and issues to do with Iraq?

        18       A.   At times, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   I just want to put this proposition to you:  given the

        21       amount of time you spent dealing with Iraq, and in light of

        22       these documents, you would have formed the view I have just

        23       put to you - that is, that the money was going ultimately

        24       to the Iraqi Government or an entity thereof.  What do you

        25       have to say about that proposition?

        26       A.   In answer to that I did not form that view that moneys

        27       being paid by AWB were ultimately going to the Iraqi

        28       Government at all.

        29

        30       Q.   Were these documents filed in the Iraq file which we

        31       have heard about earlier today?

        32       A.   I believe so, yes.

        33

        34       Q.   And we know that later there was a project within AWB

        35       called Project Rose.  Did you become aware of that term?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   It grew into Project Lilac in due course?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Were you approached by employees of AWB to provide

        42       documents as part of those projects?

        43       A.   From time to time I was requested to provide some raw

        44       data or information or to seek information from historical

        45       files, or something like that, so yes.

        46

        47       Q.   And do you have a recollection one way or the other of
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         1       giving to the people who approached you on those occasions

         2       the documents I have taken you to over the course of the

         3       afternoon?

         4       A.   I don't specifically recall providing those documents.

         5       It was more along the lines of the budget spreadsheets that

         6       we've looked at earlier, and another one that I dubbed the

         7       discharge monitor, which gave basically every vessel that

         8       AWB had contracted to Iraq.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Was the Iraqi file given to those

        11       conducting Project Rose?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       MR CONDON:   Q.   In other words, the whole file, without

        15       any --

        16       A.   Over time, yes, the entire file.

        17

        18       Q.   Do you recall when the file was given to those

        19       people - what year it was, to begin with?

        20       A.   I don't specifically recall.  However, it would have

        21       been in the - I don't know when Project Rose commenced.

        22       However, I would imagine it would have been fairly early on

        23       in that process.

        24

        25       Q.   Well, if I put to you mid-2003 as a possible

        26       commencement of Project Rose, would it have been some time

        27       in the second half of 2003?

        28

        29       MR JUDD:  Perhaps he shouldn't speculate, Commissioner - if

        30       he knows he knows, and he can say if he doesn't.  He

        31       shouldn't just say "I imagine" something.

        32

        33       MR CONDON:  I don't know when Project Rose began.  Perhaps

        34       Mr Judd can help us.

        35

        36       Q.   Do you know when?

        37       A.   I don't specifically know when Project Rose commenced,

        38       no.

        39

        40       Q.   Was it in the second half of 2003 that the Iraq file

        41       was conveyed to these people?

        42       A.   It may have been, but I think the answer would be

        43       quite clear if we know when Project Rose commenced.

        44

        45       Q.   Your evidence is it was shortly after Project Rose

        46       commenced; is that right?

        47       A.   Sorry?



            .4/4/06 (59)               5971     N C EDMONDS-WILSON (Mr Condon)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       Q.   Your evidence is it was shortly after the commencement

         3       of Project Rose?

         4       A.   I would imagine so, yes.

         5

         6       Q.   Do you recall who you gave the documents to?

         7

         8       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, I don't want to interrupt my

         9       friend's flow, but I think the witness's evidence was that

        10       the file was given over time, rather than in one hit.

        11

        12       MR CONDON:   Well, I withdraw the question.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Did you deliver the file to the

        15       persons conducting Project Rose?

        16       A.   I believe the people conducting Project Rose collected

        17       the file.

        18

        19       Q.   From you?

        20       A.   From me, or I would have shown them where the file was

        21       kept, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   And do you recall who those people were?

        24       A.   I can't specifically recall the exact person.

        25

        26       Q.   I want to take you to another matter altogether,

        27       Mr Edmonds-Wilson - that's the issue of Tigris.  Can I take

        28       you to exhibit 262.  It is AWB.0129.0099.  Have you read

        29       that document in the last few days, Mr Edmonds-Wilson?

        30       A.   Not in the last few days, but I have seen the

        31       document, yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Who is Ms Robertson, who is referred to at the top of

        34       the page?

        35       A.   She was an executive assistant to our division.

        36

        37       Q.   Who was her immediate superior?  Who did she work for

        38       directly as at August 2002?

        39       A.   She would have reported to Michael Long, I believe.

        40

        41       Q.   And how did it come to pass that Ms Robertson sent you

        42       this email?  Were there some conversations beforehand about

        43       Tigris?

        44       A.   Not that I can recall.  It appears that it is an email

        45       that was sent to Michael Long, and it appears Kate has

        46       asked me for the brief.  So it appears that either Michael

        47       or somebody in our division was travelling shortly
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         1       thereafter, and that was to be placed in that brief.

         2

         3       Q.   So it may be the case that initially you were simply

         4       asked to file this document; is that right?

         5       A.   It appears initially I was asked to put it in the

         6       brief - not necessarily to file, but --

         7

         8       Q.   Yes.  Now, if we go to exhibit 301 - AWB.0129.0102 --

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   -- there is an email from Mr Long to Mr Whitwell,

        12       copied to, amongst others, you.

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Mr Long says of Mr Whitwell, "Let's put in the Tigris

        16       option for their consideration".  Was this issue discussed

        17       with you before or at the time of the email in late August

        18       2002?

        19       A.   No.

        20

        21       Q.   Do you know why it was sent to you?

        22       A.   On a number of occasions I would receive emails purely

        23       for filing purposes or for a particular brief, or something

        24       like that.  It was one of my jobs, I guess, and actually a

        25       strong point was to record or keep records of emails and

        26       that sort of thing.

        27

        28       Q.   Are you telling the Commissioner that at this time you

        29       were simply told nothing about the Tigris transaction

        30       whatsoever?

        31       A.   I don't believe so.  It is not something I recall.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   When you say it was one of your

        34       functions to keep records of emails, do you mean by that

        35       that you printed out emails that you received?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   And did they go on to the Iraq file?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       MR CONDON:   Q.   In relation to the Iraq file, did you see

        42       emails going back to, say, June of 1999?

        43       A.   On occasion I may have, yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Well, I want your recollection, Mr Edmonds-Wilson.

        46       From time to time, you would have looked at the Iraq file,

        47       can I suggest?
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         1       A.   That's possible, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Well, it is likely, isn't it, Mr Edmonds-Wilson?

         4       A.   It is possible.  There is no doubt about that.

         5

         6       Q.   And is it your recollection that, as you looked at the

         7       Iraq file from time to time, you saw emails going back

         8       to June of 1999?

         9       A.   It is possible, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Is it possible that there were also emails in the Iraq

        12       file dating from October of 1999?

        13       A.   That would seem logical, yes.

        14

        15       Q.   I want to take you to an executive briefing paper -

        16       AWB.0140.0213.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, do you know if the Iraq file

        19       has been produced to the Commission as a file?

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   No is the short answer.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   You don't know?

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   I assume it all has, whether as a file - I'm not

        26       even sure that there is something called a physical file.

        27       We can certainly find out what the status is.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you look?  There seems to be a

        30       lot of evidence that there is a physical file.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   Yes.  I have been listening to this with some

        33       interest, because it seemed to us that if one is talking of

        34       the Iraq file, you would perhaps start with thousands of

        35       documents, so it does require some clarification.  If we

        36       put aside the contracts documents, but even putting aside

        37       that, the compilation of correspondence and emails seems so

        38       vast as not to perhaps compose a single file.  But we will

        39       try to get to the bottom of this and inform counsel

        40       assisting if there is such a thing as the Iraq file.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   And my recollection is that there is

        43       evidence from other witnesses as to the existence of such a

        44       file as well.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   Or files, yes.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Or files, yes, quite.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   But there were IS&M Iraq files, I think,

         4       described as located in the compactus.  We understood that

         5       all of the material has been provided, but we will get a

         6       description of what the physical composition of it is.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

         9

        10       MR CONDON:   Q.   Just in that vein, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, can

        11       I go to the very top of this document.  You will see in the

        12       top right-hand corner there is some writing "Iraq general"?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Is that your handwriting?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   What does that denote?

        19       A.   From time to time I built up quite a stack of

        20       documents on my desk for various markets.  In the event

        21       that I didn't file something straight away, it would end up

        22       on a pile in the corner of my desk for filing at a later

        23       stage.  It was my process to go through that pile on

        24       occasion and break it down into the applicable areas, and

        25       that's something that it appears that I would have put into

        26       the Iraq general file.

        27

        28       Q.   Is it your evidence that trip reports and briefing

        29       papers in relation to any proposed trips were also placed

        30       in that file?

        31       A.   It would make good sense that they would be filed, in

        32       the event that I received an email or a hard copy of such a

        33       document, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Well, is it your recollection that in the ordinary

        36       course such documents were sent to you for filing?

        37       A.   In the ordinary course, yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Did you read this document, the one on the screen?

        40       A.   I recall certain aspects of it.  Whether I read it at

        41       the time, I can't be sure.

        42

        43       Q.   Well, let us be precise and go through to 0215.

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, can I say during this pause I have

        46       sought some instructions.  We understand that the original

        47       IS&M files were provided in December - 18 lever arch
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         1       folders of the original files.  That took the period up to

         2       the end of the Oil-for-Food Program, and then an additional

         3       18 lever arch files of copy documents post oil-for-food

         4       were provided after December.  So that there are 36 files

         5       in all.  The first 18 are the original IS&M files for the

         6       Oil-for-Food Program.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   For Iraq?

         9

        10       MR JUDD:   For Iraq.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        13

        14       MR CONDON:   Q.   I want you to look, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, at

        15       the entry "Iraq at a glance".  Do you know who would have

        16       composed that passage?

        17       A.   I don't specifically know who would have composed that

        18       passage.

        19

        20       Q.   I am not suggesting it to be the case, but, given the

        21       amount of time you spent on matters to do with Iraq, is one

        22       possibility that you were the composer of it?

        23       A.   It is a possibility.  However, I don't believe that

        24       I - it doesn't seem familiar enough to me that I would have

        25       composed it.

        26

        27       Q.   Would it have been sent to you for comment or

        28       settling?

        29       A.   I don't believe so.

        30

        31       Q.   Can you go, please, to the last dot point:

        32

        33            AWB also pays a fee, covered under sales

        34            contract, to the Ministry of Transport

        35            covering inland transport fees and

        36            discharge costs.

        37

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Was that your understanding at the time - that

        41       is, August of 2002?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   I want to be very clear - so your answer was "no"?

        45       A.   No.

        46

        47       Q.   Do you recall this document being discussed within the
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         1       IS&M division at the time - that is, August 2002?

         2       A.   No.

         3

         4       Q.   Now, next in sequence is an email from Mr Whitwell, of

         5       7 November 2002.  Can we have AWB.0129.0167, exhibit 194.

         6       You will see it is from Mr Whitwell, addressed to

         7       Mr Lindberg and others, and your name appears in the second

         8       line of the recipients?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   It reports on a trip to Iraq by Mr Hogan and

        12       Mr Whitwell of October of 2002.  Can I suggest to you it is

        13       likely that you would have read that document?

        14       A.   It is possible, yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Is it likely, Mr Edmonds-Wilson?

        17       A.   I don't recall specifically reading it, but it is

        18       likely, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   And you will see that the author, Mr Whitwell, speaks

        21       about the mechanism of paying the iron powder rebate of $6

        22       per metric tonne through the inland transport mechanism?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   Were you consulted about that issue?

        26       A.   No.

        27

        28       Q.   Can you recall there being any discussions at the time

        29       about this document or these proposals?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   Do you recall thinking, in the second half of or late

        33       2002, how the iron powder rebate could be paid through the

        34       inland transport mechanism?

        35       A.   I don't specifically recall thinking that, no.

        36

        37       Q.   As you sit here now, can I suggest the only mechanism

        38       available to use the inland transport mechanism would be to

        39       increase artificially the inland transportation cost?

        40       A.   It does appear that way, yes.

        41

        42       Q.   Can you think of any other way, given the fact that

        43       you were the man dealing with these sorts of logistical

        44       issues, the inland transport mechanism could be used to

        45       repay the iron powder rebate?

        46       A.   I don't believe it was ever the intention that the

        47       quality claim would be remitted via the inland transport
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         1       mechanism.

         2

         3       Q.   What is the basis of that evidence?  Why do you say

         4       that?

         5       A.   I believe there may have been some discussion at the

         6       time - I know I just said I don't believe there was, but

         7       I believe there may have been some discussion at the time

         8       that we had a quality claim from the customer and that, in

         9       the normal process, that would be a matter of discussion

        10       between the buyer and the seller to come to an appropriate

        11       arrangement for the quality claim.

        12

        13       Q.   You see, you have agreed with me that the only way the

        14       inland transport mechanism could be used was to

        15       artificially inflate the inland transportation cost.  If

        16       you had read this document, would that not have set off

        17       alarm bells in your mind?

        18       A.   It certainly would now.  Had I read it at the time, I

        19       can't say that it would have set off alarm bells, because,

        20       you know, this is something that's come from my boss at the

        21       time and has gone to senior managers within the company.

        22       Had I read it, I probably would have assumed that that was

        23       all kosher, I guess.

        24

        25       Q.   Do you have any actual recollection now of the

        26       discussions that may have occurred as at early November

        27       2002 about this issue?

        28       A.   I believe there may have been some discussion

        29       surrounding the issue.  Certainly the issue, certainly -

        30       I would have imagined there were discussions on the issue,

        31       as far as the quality claim is concerned, and it would seem

        32       likely that there were subsequent discussions on how the

        33       quality claim could be appropriately remitted to the

        34       Iraqis.

        35

        36       Q.   Do you have any recollection of the contents of those

        37       discussions, or not?

        38       A.   I don't believe that I was party to the discussions.

        39       Purely my view would have been based on overhearing,

        40       possibly, other people discuss it or mention it, or

        41       something like that, considering we worked in an open-plan

        42       environment.

        43

        44       Q.   Now, that communication is dated 7 November.  Can

        45       I take you through to 12 December 2002 - AWB.0147.0092,

        46       exhibit 340.  I think from your statement,

        47       Mr Edmonds-Wilson, you have seen this document in recent
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         1       times; is that correct?

         2       A.   I have, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   I understand it is your evidence that Mr Whitwell was

         5       the person who instigated this particular document?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Did he explain, or did anyone else explain, why we see

         9       the note in bold at the top about it being sent to a

        10       reduced list in light of the nature of the Tigris

        11       transaction?

        12       A.   I don't recall having a particular discussion with

        13       Chris on that point.  I believe that the majority of the

        14       content of the email has been cut from an earlier sales

        15       note that Chris would have distributed, and it is quite

        16       likely that he informed me of some additional details -

        17       namely, the Tigris amount and possibly inland transport, if

        18       that wasn't covered in an earlier sales note - and to

        19       resend this sales note to the group, and that it may have -

        20       it is something that I may have shown Chris the hard copy

        21       of before sending out or even turned my monitor towards his

        22       desk and said, "Is this right to go?"

        23

        24       Q.   I want to show you some more aspects of the document.

        25       We have three-quarters of the way down the page "Delivery

        26       /Shipment Period January 2003-June 2002" - 2003 that should

        27       be, I take it?

        28       A.   Can we just go down a touch?  Well, it certainly

        29       shouldn't be June 2002.

        30

        31       Q.   It should be June 2003, shouldn't it?

        32       A.   I believe so, yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Did your responsibilities include arranging for the

        35       shipments to be undertaken?

        36       A.   Not specifically.  From time to time I was involved in

        37       discussions, I guess, as far as forward shipping program

        38       and trying to establish that program going forward.

        39

        40       Q.   You had a role from time to time, at least, in

        41       relation to the implementation of the shipping program; is

        42       that right?

        43       A.   That's correct, yes.

        44

        45       Q.   And if you assume that the delivery/shipping period is

        46       in fact January 2003 to June 2003, what is being suggested

        47       in this document is that shipments will commence the very
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         1       next month; is that right?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Looking back now, was anything said to you about

         5       delaying or slowing down the shipments under contract 1670?

         6       A.   I don't specifically recall discussions to slow down

         7       the shipping program.  However, I would need to refer back

         8       to possibly an existing contract which was being executed.

         9       That may have been still being executed, and therefore

        10       automatically it would make sense that we delay the

        11       shipping program for this contract.

        12

        13       Q.   Do you have any recollection, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, of

        14       anyone coming to you and saying, "Look, we want to slow

        15       down the shipping program for contracts 1670 or 1680"?

        16       A.   I don't specifically recollect that, but, again, there

        17       are a number of factors which I would - which would need to

        18       be in place prior to AWB commencing the shipping program.

        19

        20       Q.   If you go over the page, please, we see about

        21       two-thirds of the way down the page an entry for Tigris

        22       debt.

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   Was that information conveyed to you by Mr Whitwell in

        26       a draft form, or was that something you composed based upon

        27       what others had told you?

        28       A.   I would - I believe that that would have been provided

        29       to me from Mr Whitwell, either verbally or possibly a

        30       hard - I believe there was an earlier memorandum to other

        31       members at AWB.  It may have come from that.  I can't

        32       specifically recall.

        33

        34       Q.   Do you recall anyone saying to you more than what we

        35       see in those three lines there?

        36       A.   The only thing I would add, I guess, would be that

        37       I needed to record this amount in my budgeting spreadsheet

        38       to track the amount over the period of the contract.

        39

        40       Q.   But apart from that you don't recall receiving any

        41       additional explanation than what appears in those three

        42       lines?

        43       A.   I don't recall that, no.

        44

        45       Q.   Do you see that the total price includes a figure for

        46       Tigris debt of 8.40 Euros or US$8.37?

        47       A.   I know it does, but I just can't see that.



            .4/4/06 (59)               5980     N C EDMONDS-WILSON (Mr Condon)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       Q.   If we go back to the previous page --

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   -- do you see that the total free in truck price is

         6       listed, and one of the components, can I suggest, is the

         7       Tigris debt?

         8       A.   Correct.

         9

        10       Q.   Do you know how it was intended that either the UN or

        11       DFAT be informed of the fact that the Tigris debt was built

        12       into the total free in truck price?

        13       A.   I don't have any recollection of that, no.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you think at the time that that might be contrary

        16       to UN sanctions?

        17       A.   At the time, no.

        18

        19       Q.   Do you recall being part of any conversation where the

        20       issues in this document were discussed?

        21       A.   Can you just clarify the issues?

        22

        23       Q.   Well, the issues about the repayment of the Tigris

        24       debt and the inflation of the free in truck price?

        25       A.   No, I can't recall that.  It is really something

        26       that - this is information that I could then take and put

        27       into my budgeting spreadsheets, and that sort of thing, so

        28       that's what I was interested in.

        29

        30       Q.   Could I take you through to January 2003 -

        31       AWB.0018.0173.

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   You will see that Mr Krikor has written to Mr Wall on

        35       24 January 2003?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Again you see that Mr Krikor has divided the amounts

        39       claimed by state agents as follows - for 10 per cent, cost

        40       inland transportation and their agency fees.

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   At the time, did you form the view that the

        44       10 per cent aftersales service fee and the agency fee were

        45       separate from the inland transportation costs?

        46       A.   I accept that now, but at the time I don't believe

        47       that I would have.  I think it would have been in my mind
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         1       the total inland transport cost.

         2

         3       Q.   And Mr Krikor is pretty clear in saying that the

         4       aftersales charge meant 10 per cent?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   What did you think AWB was getting to justify the

         8       aftersales charges fee?

         9       A.   I thought it was part of the inland transport fee.

        10

        11       Q.   And that was so notwithstanding that the inland

        12       transportation fee was described quite separately?

        13       A.   I can see that now, but at the time I don't think it

        14       would have been cause for concern for me.

        15

        16       Q.   Mr Wall sent this to you with the message "FYG".  What

        17       does "FYG" mean?

        18       A.   For your guidance, I recall.

        19

        20       Q.   Do you recall guiding Mr Wall about what Mr Krikor was

        21       saying?

        22       A.   I don't believe I was guiding Mr Wall.  I mean,

        23       I think on the lower emails there, the response was that we

        24       were unsure what that fee was relating to.

        25

        26       Q.   Well, do you recall discussing the issue with Mr Wall,

        27       or with Mr Whitwell?

        28       A.   I don't specifically recall discussing it, no.

        29

        30       MR CONDON:   Mr Commissioner, I tender that document.

        31       Again, there are names of vessels referred to, and I should

        32       seek a confidentiality order in relation to the name of the

        33       vessel which appears in the subject matter of that email.

        34

        35       EXHIBIT #728 DOCUMENT FROM MR KRIKOR TO MR WALL ON

        36       24/1/2003, BARCODED AWB.0018.0173

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make a non-publication order in

        39       respect of the vessel name.

        40

        41       MR CONDON:   Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, you went to Jordan

        42       in May of 2003; is that correct?

        43       A.   That is correct, yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Can I show you the trip report prepared for that

        46       visit.  It is EXH.0001.0070.  Can we go to page 0073,

        47       please, and, in particular, the paragraph beginning towards
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         1       the bottom "Importantly, the matter of the EUR2.5m inland

         2       transport".

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Does that note accurately record what was discussed on

         6       this occasion?

         7       A.   I am sorry, does it accurately?

         8

         9       Q.   Record what was discussed on this occasion?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Am I right to conclude from this report that what Alia

        13       was saying was that they were trying to get the money back

        14       from the Iraqi side?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Can you suggest any reason why, if the money was paid

        18       to Alia for inland transportation, that money would in turn

        19       have been paid to what is called the Iraqi side?

        20       A.   I would imagine it is for subcontracting purposes, as

        21       per previously discussed.

        22

        23       Q.   So when you were told this in May of 2003 did it come

        24       as a surprise to you, that Alia had to chase the money back

        25       from the Iraqi side?

        26       A.   I don't recall it becoming a surprise to me at the

        27       time.  I mean, I would have been probably frantically

        28       trying to record details of the meeting, not necessarily

        29       taking each and every detail in.

        30

        31       Q.   But your explanation only makes sense if Alia had

        32       subcontracted the entirety of the inland transportation to

        33       an Iraqi company, or companies; is that right?

        34       A.   That's correct, yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Do you recall that explanation being given at this

        37       meeting in May of 2003?

        38       A.   I don't specifically recall that being given.

        39       However, I believe by this stage that I had formed the view

        40       that it was likely that Alia was subcontracting services to

        41       another provider.

        42

        43       Q.   What, the entirety of the services of inland

        44       transportation?

        45       A.   Likely, yes.  We would have had a number or a couple

        46       of vessels at Umm Qasr at that time, I imagine.  Maybe they

        47       split it - one vessel they looked after in entirety and
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         1       another vessel they subcontracted it.  I don't know.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   That's just speculation, isn't it,

         4       Mr Edmonds-Wilson?

         5       A.   I thought it was an answer to the question.

         6

         7       MR CONDON:   Q.   On what basis did you possibly think

         8       by May of 2003 that Alia was subcontracting inland

         9       transportation services entirely to an Iraqi company or

        10       companies?

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   In alternate vessels?

        13

        14       THE WITNESS:   It would seem likely that the transport

        15       provider would subcontract tonnage to another provider,

        16       just with the amount of tonnes involved.  It seemed quite

        17       likely.

        18

        19       MR CONDON:   Q.   Can I suggest, with great respect to you,

        20       that is simply speculation on your part?

        21       A.   You can certainly suggest it.

        22

        23       Q.   Well, what is your comment, Mr Edmonds-Wilson?  Can

        24       I ask you to comment on this proposition:  as at May 2003

        25       what this meeting showed was that money paid to Alia was

        26       finding its way to either the Iraqi Government or an entity

        27       of the Iraqi Government?

        28       A.   It does show that Alia had remitted funds to another

        29       party - I accept that, yes.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Not just funds, but the whole of

        32       the trucking fee?

        33       A.   For this vessel, yes.

        34

        35       MR CONDON:   Q.   Can I ask you to comment on this

        36       proposition:  it would have been apparent to you in May

        37       2003 that Alia was being used as a conduit by the Iraqi

        38       Government or an entity of the Iraqi Government.  What do

        39       you have to say about that proposition?

        40       A.   That I did not believe that to be so.

        41

        42       Q.   Well, did you believe it to be so or not?

        43       A.   Not.

        44

        45       Q.   We have all these documents that I have shown you in

        46       the course of the afternoon that show an interest of one

        47       kind or another on the part of the ISCWT.  We have
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         1       documents that show demands by the ISCWT for payment.  We

         2       have documents that show, or suggest, that money was to be

         3       paid to the ISCWT and we have, lastly, this particular

         4       document, Mr Edmonds-Wilson, which you say records

         5       accurately the terms of discussions in May 2003.  If you

         6       take all those into account, it is clear now, at least --

         7

         8       MR FORREST:   I object to this, sir.  In my submission,

         9       inviting this witness to form a conclusion now about the

        10       state of the evidence is really inviting him to trespass

        11       into an area that is owned by you.  While I am on my feet,

        12       this witness has been criticised by my friend - and, with

        13       respect, sir, by you - for speculating as to the issue of

        14       subcontracting over the border.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Alternate vessels was when I raised

        17       it - that is a whole brand-new theory that I hadn't heard

        18       before.

        19

        20       MR FORREST:   No, the chain of questioning started "Can you

        21       suggest any reason why, if the money was paid to Alia for

        22       inland transportation, that money would have in turn been

        23       paid to the Iraqi side?"  That really invited speculation.

        24       Then four questions later he is criticised.  I take your

        25       point that it is 100 per cent, and we will deal with that

        26       in submissions, and we will probably refer to the Whitwell

        27       50/50 memorandum, because 100 per cent of 50 per cent

        28       equals 50 per cent.  But that's down the track.  My point

        29       now is that there is not much point in asking this young

        30       fellow to say to you what he think the evidence means now.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I agree.  Yes, Mr Condon.

        33

        34       MR CONDON:   Q.   As at May 2003, with all these documents

        35       in mind, did you have the view then that Alia was being

        36       used as a conduit for the payment of moneys to the Iraqi

        37       Government or an entity thereof?

        38       A.   At that period, no, I don't believe I did.  I go back

        39       to my understanding of the program and the contracting with

        40       Iraq, and that it was fully approved by the United Nations

        41       and not - it is suggesting to me that I would be

        42       questioning that process, when I don't believe that I would

        43       have done so.

        44

        45       Q.   Do you recall that memo being discussed on your return

        46       to AWB?

        47       A.   It was a fairly lengthy trip report, I recall that,
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         1       and I don't specifically recall discussions of any

         2       particular item.

         3

         4       Q.   I want to take you back to Tigris and now to August

         5       2003.  Can we have AWB.0202.0074, exhibit 318.  You will

         6       see there is a statement or a question in relation to

         7       liability for contracts not executed.  Mr Whitwell says to

         8       you:

         9

        10            Nige can u organise to set Tigris up.

        11

        12       Do you know what Mr Whitwell was asking you to do in that

        13       email, to set Tigris up?

        14       A.   I assume that Chris is requesting me to set Tigris up

        15       within the AWB system, the SAP system that was operating -

        16       either that or to ensure that the appropriate money owing

        17       to Tigris was set aside in a separate account, or something

        18       like that, I would imagine.

        19

        20       Q.   Were you told at the time that the Tigris transaction

        21       involved recovery of a debt due to BHP and then to Tigris,

        22       a debt owing by the Iraqi Government?

        23       A.   At which - at this time, or --

        24

        25       Q.   Yes, that is, in August 2003?

        26       A.   I would - I can't specifically recall, but I would

        27       believe so, yes.

        28

        29       Q.   And from, say, 2003 until the early part of 2005 did

        30       it remain your understanding that the Tigris transaction

        31       was of that nature - that is, the recovery of a debt due to

        32       first BHP and then Tigris?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you become aware of any services that Tigris

        36       performed for the benefit of AWB after, say, mid-2002, in

        37       relation to the Iraqi market?

        38       A.   No.

        39

        40       Q.   If Tigris was performing valuable services to assist

        41       AWB in relation to the Iraqi market after, say, mid-2002,

        42       that is the sort of matter which would come to your

        43       attention, would it not, in the ordinary course?

        44       A.   Can you just repeat that, please?

        45

        46       Q.   If Tigris was providing services to the benefit of AWB

        47       after mid-2002 and relating to the Iraqi market, that is
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         1       the sort of matter that would have come to your attention

         2       in the ordinary course, would it not?

         3       A.   I believe so, yes.

         4

         5       MR CONDON:   Mr Commissioner, that completes my examination

         6       of this witness subject to one matter, which is just

         7       waiting for another copy of a spreadsheet to come down from

         8       the photocopier.  I note the time.  Could I just ask for a

         9       short adjournment and we will get those copies?

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   We might just see if anybody else wants

        12       to ask any questions in the meantime.

        13

        14       MR FORREST:   Nothing from me, your Honour.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   No, thank you.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Kennan?

        19

        20       <EXAMINATION BY MR KENNAN:

        21

        22       MR KENNAN:   Q.   Mr Edmonds-Wilson, I represent Mr Hogan,

        23       and I just wanted to ask you some questions about the

        24       statement you have made.  You have worked at the AWB since

        25       about April 2001?

        26       A.   Prior to that.

        27

        28       Q.   No, since?

        29       A.   Since then, yes.

        30

        31       Q.   And you have been in its continuous employ?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   And you have been aware, what, for the last 18 months

        35       or two years of the interest in the Oil-for-Food Program

        36       and the AWB contracts with Iraq?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Were you asked to prepare any material when the

        40       Volcker Inquiry investigators were out here?

        41       A.   I handed over some material, but I don't believe that

        42       I was specifically asked to prepare any submission, or

        43       anything like that.

        44

        45       Q.   At that time, at least, you became aware, didn't you,

        46       that the issue of whether or not there had been any

        47       breaches of UN sanctions was an important issue for the AWB
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         1       to address?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Then, after the publication of the Volcker Inquiry

         5       report in October 2005, that issue continued to be an

         6       important one for the AWB; is that correct?

         7       A.   Correct, yes.

         8

         9       Q.   So when it came to preparing your first statement,

        10       which was 16 December 2005, the issue of UN approvals or

        11       otherwise must have been realised by you to be an important

        12       one?

        13       A.   UN approvals - yes.

        14

        15       Q.   And yet there was no mention by you in that first

        16       statement on 16 December 2005 of the issue of UN approvals,

        17       was there?

        18       A.   I don't specifically recall that there was no mention

        19       of UN approvals, but --

        20

        21       Q.   And you had put quite a lot of time into preparation

        22       of that statement, hadn't you?

        23       A.   At that time, yes.

        24

        25       Q.   Was there any particular reason why you didn't refer

        26       to UN approvals?

        27       A.   Not that I can recollect, no.

        28

        29       Q.   When it came to the preparation of your second

        30       statement, which I understand you have effectively sworn to

        31       today, you say in paragraph 8.8 that it has always been

        32       your firm view that the UN had approved the trucking

        33       payments - do you see that?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Is that correct?

        37       A.   Yes, it is.

        38

        39       Q.   It has always been your firm view that the UN approved

        40       the trucking payments?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   You knew that was an important issue when you made

        44       your first statement on 16 December?

        45       A.   I understand, yes.

        46

        47       Q.   And you made no reference to it in the first
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         1       statement?

         2       A.   Can I take your word on that, that I haven't

         3       referenced it in the first statement, yes.

         4

         5       Q.   And why was it that you mentioned it in your second

         6       statement?

         7       A.   I believe there are a number of issues in my second

         8       statement that just provided some clarity to the earlier

         9       statement.

        10

        11       Q.   You see, you go on in paragraph 8.8 to say:

        12

        13            I acquired this belief from Dominic Hogan,

        14            who informed me that the contracts included

        15            a trucking fee to deliver to all

        16            Governorates of Iraq and had been approved

        17            by the UN.

        18

        19       A.   Correct.

        20

        21       Q.   And again you make no reference to that in your first

        22       statement, do you?

        23       A.   I don't believe my first statement went into as much

        24       detail as my subsequent statement.  From memory, it was

        25       something that the inquiry had requested and we were under

        26       some pressure to provide such a statement.

        27

        28       Q.   Was this suggested to you - this acquired belief from

        29       Dominic Hogan that the contracts had been approved by the

        30       UN?

        31       A.   No.

        32

        33       Q.   So you just thought of it of your own volition, did

        34       you?

        35

        36       MR FORREST:   I just wonder, Mr Commissioner, if my learned

        37       friend Mr Kennan is going to put on instructions that his

        38       client did not have that belief, because, if he is, it is

        39       contrary to the evidence.

        40

        41       MR KENNAN:   Well, Commissioner, at this stage it is put on

        42       the basis of what was said to this witness by my client.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, you go on.

        45

        46       MR KENNAN:   Q.   You say, do you, that you just put this

        47       in, that you acquired this belief from Dominic Hogan that
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         1       the contracts had been approved by the UN - you just

         2       thought of that of your own volition in recent days?

         3       A.   This statement is one that I have been preparing for

         4       quite some time, so not necessarily in recent days, but

         5       certainly since my previous statement, yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Can you recall any particular conversation with

         8       Dominic Hogan about the issue of UN approvals?

         9       A.   I certainly had discussions with Dominic on the Iraq

        10       market and the Iraq program.

        11

        12       Q.   Yes.  But you can't recall any conversation with

        13       Dominic Hogan specifically about the issue of UN approvals,

        14       can you?

        15       A.   I can't specifically recall.  However, to me it is the

        16       most likely source of that information.

        17

        18       Q.   Well, you say it is the most likely source, but, on

        19       the other hand, you can't recall Dominic Hogan telling you?

        20       A.   I recall having discussions with Dominic Hogan.  I

        21       can't recall every conversation that we have had.

        22

        23       Q.   And you can't recall specifically discussions about UN

        24       approval with him?

        25       A.   I recall discussions with the UN process.  I can't

        26       specifically say that that is the UN approval process.

        27

        28       Q.   All right.  Now, you say, don't you, that you think

        29       you may have read - and I take you to paragraph 15.2 of

        30       your second statement - the February 2001 trip report?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Have you reread that in recent times?

        34       A.   I have, yes.  I have seen it in the transcripts.

        35

        36       Q.   And you are familiar with the fact that that refers to

        37       the 10 per cent component of the inland trucking fee as

        38       being, in the opinion of Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase, a

        39       siphoning off by the Iraqis for purposes other than paying

        40       transport costs?

        41       A.   Yes.  This email was actually sent prior to me

        42       commencing in the division.

        43

        44       Q.   And the fact of the matter is that you think you may

        45       well have read that at the time?

        46       A.   Likely, yes - possibly.

        47
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         1       Q.   So it is likely that in 2001 you were aware that

         2       Mr Hogan thought that at least part of the transport fee

         3       incorporating the 10 per cent component was a siphoning

         4       off?

         5       A.   I don't believe I did think that at the time.  It

         6       is --

         7

         8       Q.   But you might have?

         9       A.   It is something that I may have read.  It is something

        10       that I may have read whilst I was actually employed

        11       elsewhere in a totally separate division.  It is not

        12       something that I would be - that I would have claimed to

        13       have a great understanding of at all.  So it is not

        14       necessarily something that I would have considered.

        15

        16       Q.   You have said, I think, in your statement, as well as

        17       in answers to questions from counsel assisting the

        18       Commission, that you didn't think that the transport fee

        19       was going directly or indirectly to the government of Iraq;

        20       is that correct?

        21       A.   That's correct.

        22

        23       Q.   And yet there are matters in your second statement,

        24       and I take you to paragraph 10.3, where you sent a fax

        25       in May 2001 to Dominic Hogan, saying:

        26

        27            IGB are looking for remaining payment on

        28            inland transport charges for vessels we

        29            paid 1 May 'In order to commence a

        30            discharging'...

        31

        32       And you go on to some other things.  Were you not thinking

        33       at that time that the IGB, as an authority of the Iraqi

        34       Government, had an interest in the payment of the fees?

        35       A.   I don't believe that I would have formed that view at

        36       that time.

        37

        38       Q.   And the fact that the IGB were pressing for the

        39       payment wasn't a matter that raised a concern in your mind?

        40       A.   At that time, no.

        41

        42       Q.   You say in paragraph 8.8 of your statement that you

        43       also got some comfort from the faxes between Mr Stott and

        44       Jill Courtney of 30 October and 2 November 2000 in relation

        45       to the UN approval; is that right?

        46       A.   Not - I wouldn't say comfort, it was just reinforcing

        47       the belief that the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade
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         1       were aware of the arrangement and were approving it.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What arrangement are you speaking

         4       of?

         5       A.   Inland transport.

         6

         7       MR KENNAN:   Q.   Well, you say:

         8

         9            Reading these two documents confirmed for

        10            me what Dominic had told me.

        11

        12       Do you see that?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, what is it about those two faxes that confirmed

        16       UN approval of the inland transport fee?

        17       A.   The two documents, I believe, made reference to a

        18       Jordanian-based trucking company --

        19

        20       Q.   Yes.

        21       A.   -- Alia.  It didn't say Alia, but that's my take on

        22       the document, and the response from the Department of

        23       Foreign Affairs and Trade was that they saw no reason why,

        24       from an international legal perspective, this was not a -

        25       could not go ahead.

        26

        27       Q.   But the faxes refer to Jordanian-based trucking

        28       companies being responsible for arranging trucks at

        29       discharge port; is that correct?

        30       A.   That sounds correct, yes.

        31

        32       Q.   There is no reference to a trucking fee as being a

        33       component of the fee on the contracts between the AWB and

        34       Iraq, is there?

        35       A.   Only the term "free in truck all governorates of

        36       Iraq", I believe, on the contract.

        37

        38       Q.   You also have said - and can I take you to

        39       paragraph 5.10 - that you obtained authorisation from

        40       Charles Stott, the general manager of ISM, and

        41       Sarah Scales, as they were the two general managers who sat

        42       closest to you and both were familiar with sales to Iraq,

        43       and you go on to say that if they weren't available you

        44       would go to Paul Ingleby or perhaps Tim Goodacre.  Now, the

        45       authorisation you are referring to in that subparagraph

        46       refers to the authorisation for the payment of the trucking

        47       fees to Alia; is that correct?
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         1       A.   That's correct, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Was it the position at that time, as I understand from

         4       reading earlier parts of the paragraph, that the fee was

         5       paid in two instalments?

         6       A.   I would need to refer to my notes, but over the course

         7       of the period that I was involved there was a period there

         8       were two instalments and there was a later period, or an

         9       earlier period - I can't recall - they were paid

        10       100 per cent prior to discharge, and then later it was

        11       split 10 per cent, 10 per cent and 80 per cent.

        12

        13       Q.   But the approval you were getting, which you had to

        14       get from your managers, was in respect of each payment; is

        15       that correct?

        16       A.   Each payment, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   And that approval was in writing?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   What was the form of the document on which that

        22       approval was given?

        23       A.   What was the form of the document?

        24

        25       Q.   Yes.

        26       A.   The cover sheet specified the date of the request, it

        27       specified the amount, the currency, the particular vessel

        28       details, tonnage, contract number - those sort of details -

        29       the actual amount, if I haven't said that already.  It

        30       specified the banking details and the signatures.

        31

        32       Q.   And was the amount, or the fee, characterised as the

        33       inland transport fee, or how was it characterised?

        34       A.   From memory, it specified "inland transport fee", yes.

        35

        36       Q.   While you were responsible for the process of

        37       authorisation, it was your practice to get written approval

        38       from two managers in each case?

        39       A.   Always.

        40

        41       Q.   The February 2001 trip report of Mr Hogan and

        42       Mr Borlase - do you know whether that was in the Iraqi

        43       file?

        44       A.   I don't recall seeing it in the Iraq file.  It is not

        45       to say that it wasn't in there.

        46

        47       Q.   I see.  And are you able to say whether or not that
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         1       was part of the documents given over, over a period of

         2       time, to someone in respect of Project Rose?

         3       A.   If it was in an IS&M file, it certainly would have

         4       been handed over.

         5

         6       Q.   Given your knowledge of the IS&M files and your

         7       knowledge of the distribution list on the covering email

         8       for the February 2001 trip report, you would expect it to

         9       be in that file, wouldn't you?

        10       A.   Not necessarily.  If I was in the division, I would

        11       expect it to be in the file, but that's something that was

        12       sent prior to me beginning in the division, and I don't

        13       believe the filing process was as effective or efficient as

        14       after I took over.

        15

        16       MR KENNAN:   I have no further questions.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Anything arising, Mr Forrest?

        19

        20       MR FORREST:   There is one very short matter, thank you,

        21       Commissioner.

        22

        23       <EXAMINATION BY MR FORREST:

        24

        25       MR FORREST:   Q.   Mr Kennan, it seemed to me, was

        26       suggesting to you that in some way the contents of your

        27       second statement were a product of suggestion to you rather

        28       than being your own evidence.  Do you recall that

        29       suggestion?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   What do you say to that?

        33       A.   I reject it.

        34

        35       MR FORREST:   Thank you.

        36

        37       MR CONDON:   There are just two matters I need to address,

        38       Mr Commissioner.

        39

        40       <EXAMINATION BY MR CONDON:

        41

        42       MR CONDON:   Q.   Can I provide the witness with some

        43       documents received from AWB's lawyers in December of 2005.

        44       I will provide a copy to you as well, Mr Commissioner.  It

        45       is not barcoded.  These, I think, are the documents that

        46       Mr Judd referred to before lunchtime as being the

        47       spreadsheets that you prepared or worked on.
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Are those the said spreadsheets and documents?

         4       A.   Yes, they are.

         5

         6       EXHIBIT #325C SPREADSHEETS PREPARED BY MR EDMONDS-WILSON

         7

         8       MR CONDON:   Q.   There is one matter that I omitted to put

         9       to you which I need to put to you for your comment.  You

        10       say at the very end of your statement about market briefs -

        11       WST.0038.0167; it is page 25.  You say that the market

        12       briefs read, in part:

        13

        14            Inland Transport fees are paid via Alia

        15            Transport Company in Jordan, who then pay

        16            the Ministry of Transport in Iraq.

        17

        18       You say that you have no recollection of reading this

        19       section "although I believe I would have"?

        20       A.   Correct.

        21

        22       Q.   Do you recall that section being discussed by you with

        23       other people from AWB from 2001 onwards?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   Can I suggest to you that, upon reading it, as you

        27       state you would have done, it would have been clear that

        28       the moneys would have been paid ultimately to the Ministry

        29       of Transport in Iraq?

        30       A.   Having read it, yes.  However, followed by the

        31       sentence "These fees are approved by the UN".  So I would

        32       have had no reason to question it.

        33

        34       MR CONDON:   Thank you.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:    Thank you, Mr Edmonds-Wilson.  You are

        37       excused.

        38

        39       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        40

        41       MR CONDON:   Commissioner, the next witness is Mr Emons.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think we might start him tomorrow.  I

        44       will adjourn until 10 o'clock.

        45

        46       AT 4.22PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED TO WEDNESDAY,

        47       5 APRIL 2006 AT 10AM
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